Analyzing Anti-Rheumatic Properties of Novel Medicinal Flora (*Dodonaea viscosa*) through Expression Analysis



Huda Munawar

Reg. No. 00000364394

Supervised by

Prof. Dr. Attya Bhatti

Atta-Ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB) National University of Sciences & Technology (NUST), Islamabad, Pakistan.

2023

Analyzing Anti-Rheumatic Properties of Novel Medicinal Flora (*Dodonaea viscosa*) through Expression Analysis

A thesis submitted in partial fulfilment of the requirement for the degree of Master of Science in Healthcare Biotechnology



Huda Munawar Reg. No. 00000364394 Supervised by Prof. Dr. Attya Bhatti

Atta-Ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB) National University of Sciences & Technology (NUST), Islamabad, Pakistan.

2023

				FORM TH-4	
National	University	of Sci	ences &	Technology	
	MS	THESIS V	VORK		

Carlos A

We hereby recommend that the dissertation prepared under our supervision by: <u>Huda</u> Munawar (00000364394)

Titled:

Analyzing Anti-Rheumatic Properties of Novel Medicinal Flora (*Dodonaea viscosa*) through <u>Expression Analysis</u> be accepted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the award of Masters in <u>Healthcare Biotechnology</u> degree with (<u>A</u>grade).

Examination Committee Members

- 1. Name: Dr. Asma Gul
- 2. Name: Dr. Peter John
- 3. Name: Dr. Saira Justin

Signature:

Signature Justin

Signature:_

Dr. SAITA JUST Assistant Professor Debit of Healthcare Biotechnology Attra-ut-Qahman School of Applied Attra-ut-Qahman School of Applied Biotechnology HUST Islamabac

Attya Shatti

Supervisor's name:

www.are Blo Signature: ences (ASAB). Date:

Sia Manzog Head of Department

Date: 15-09.23

COUNTERSINGED

Prof. Dr. Muhammad Asgh Principal Atta-ur-Rahman School of Atta-ur-Ramines (ASAB), HUST Isterior Biosciences (ASAB), Dean/Principal

Date: 18-09-23

THESIS ACCEPTANCE CERTIFICATE

It is certified that the final copy of the MS thesis written by Ms. Huda Munawar, registration no. 00000364394, of ASAB, has been vetted by the undersigned, found complete in all aspects as per NUST status/regulations, is free of plagiarism, errors, and mistakes, and is accepted as partial fulfilment for the award of MS/MPhil degree. It is further certified that necessary amendments as pointed out by GEC members of the Scholar have also been incorporated in the said thesis.

Signature:	<u>}</u>
Supervisor: Prof. Dr. Attya B	athi
Date:	2
Signature:	Chronology of Appiled USTrahamabad
Head of Department: Prof. Dr.	Sobia Manzoor
Date:	-
Signature:	Prof. Dr. Muhammad Asghar Principal Atta-ur-Rahman School of Appliad Biosciences (ASAB), NUST Islamsbad
Principal: Dr. Prof. Muhamma	d Asghar
Date: 18-09-23	

CERTIFICATE FOR PLAGIARISM

It is certified that the MS Thesis titled "Analyzing anti-rheumatic properties of novel medicinal flora (*Dodonaea viscosa*) through expression analysis" by Huda Munawar has been examined. I undertake the follows:

- Thesis has significant new work/knowledge as compared to already published or are under consideration to be published work. No sentence, equation, diagram. Table, paragraph, or section has been copied verbatim from previous work unless it is placed under quotation marks and duly referenced.
- 2) The work presented is original and own work of the author. No ideas, processes, results, or words of others have been presented as Author's work. There is no fabrication of data or results, which have been compiled /analysed.
- The thesis has been checked using TURNITIN (copy of originality report attached) and found within limits as per HEC plagiarism Policy and instructions.

(Superv

Prof. Dr. Attya Bhatti

Atta-Ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences (ASAB) National University of Sciences & Technology (NUST), Islamabad, Pakistan.

DECLARATION

I certify that this research work titled "Analyzing anti-rheumatic properties of novel medicinal flora (*Dodonaea viscosa*) through expression analysis" is my work. The work has not been presented elsewhere for assessment. The material that has been used from other sources has been properly acknowledged/referred to.

Huda Munawar Master of Sciences in Healthcare Biotechnology Registration no. 00000364394



DEDICATION

This thesis is dedicated to my parents, **Munawar Islam and Azra Munawar**, whose encouragement and guidance has been unmatched. I would like to thank them for always believing in me and helping me relentlessly to achieve my dreams.

Moreover, I would also like to dedicate this dissertation to my **sisters** for being my ultimate support system throughout this journey.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

Foremost, I would like to praise **Allah Almighty** for giving me strength, wisdom, and patience to finish this research project.

I would like to express my deepest gratitude towards my supervisor, **Prof. Dr. Attya Bhatti**, for her continuous support, and guidance. I would also like to thank my GEC members, **Dr. Peter John**, **Dr. Saira Justin**, & **Dr. Asma Gul**, for their insightful comments and dedication.

I wish to express special gratitude to **Dr. Prof. Muhammad Asghar** and the entire ASAB department for providing us with all the necessary facilities to conduct my research project. Moreover, I would like to thank the ASAB diagnostic lab staff, especially **Mr. Izzat Ullah Khan** for his help and guidance during the project.

I am forever in debt to my **parents & family** for their unconditional love, and support throughout this time. I would also like to share my deep gratitude to my best friends, **Anas Muzammil**, **Saliha Khushboo, & Maryam Zahra** for their constant appreciation, encouragement, and love. Thank you for always wishing the best for me and celebrating my achievements as your own.

Lastly, I am sincerely thankful to my seniors, **Misha Zaib, Kashaf Rasool, & Maria Sharif** for their immense guidance and help throughout the research project. A very special thanks to all **my lab mates & friends** for always being there in my tough times. I wish you guys all the best for your future.

Huda Munawar

TABLE OF CONTENTS

LIST OF ACRONYMS	i
LIST OF FIGURES	i
LIST OF TABLESi	ii
ABSTRACTi	V
INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA)	1
1.1.1. Rheumatoid Arthritis Types	1
1.2 Epidemiology	2
1.3 Etiology of RA	3
1.3.1 Genetic Risk Factors	3
1.3.1.1 HLA Genes	3
1.3.1.2 Non-HLA Genes	3
1.3.2.1 Environmental Factors	4
1.3.2.1.1 Smoking	4
1.3.2.1.2 Gut microbiota	4
1.3.2.1.3 Hormones	4
1.3.2.1.4 Role of Diet	4
1.4 Pathogenesis of Rheumatoid Arthritis	5
1.5. Diagnosis	б
LITERATURE REVIEW	8
2.1 Autoimmunity	8
2.2 Role of B Cells	8
2.3 Role of T Cells	8
2.4 Role of Cytokines	9
2.5 Role of IL-6 in RA	9
2.5.1. IL-6 Role in Immune Responses1	0
2.5.2. IL-6 in RA Pathogenesis1	0
2.5.2.1 Therapeutic Targeting of IL-6 in RA1	1
2.6 Available Treatments for Rheumatoid Arthritis 1	2
2.6.1 Analgesics (NSAIDs)	2
2.6.2 Glucocorticoids1	3
2.6.3. Disease Modifying Anti-Rheumatic Drugs (DMARDs)1	3
2.6.3.1 Traditional Synthetic DMARDs1	3
2.6.3.2 Targeted Synthetic DMARDs	4

2.6.3.3 Biologic Agents	14
2.6.4. Side Effects Medications	15
2.7. Medicinal Plants	15
2.7.1 Ethnobotanical Medicines as an Alternative Treatment for RA	15
2.8 Subspecies of <i>Dodonaea viscosa</i>	16
2.8.1 Taxonomic Hierarchy	16
2.8.2 Dodonaea viscosa	17
2.8.3 Geographical Location	18
2.8.4 Ethnomedicinal uses of <i>Dodonaea viscosa</i>	18
2.8.5 Studies on Plant Phytochemical Analysis	18
2.8.6 Pharmacological Properties of <i>Dodonaea viscosa</i>	19
METHODOLOGY	20
3.1. Plant Extract Preparation	20
3.2. Phytochemical Analysis of <i>Dodonaea viscosa</i> Extract	20
3.2.1. Qualitative Phytochemical Analysis	20
3.2.2. Quanitative Phytochemical Analysis	23
3.3 In-vitro Antioxidant Assays	24
3.3.1. DPPH (1, 1-diphenyl- 2-picrylhydrazyl) Assay	24
3.4 In-vitro Anti-Inflammatory Assays	24
3.4.1. Albumin Denaturation Inhibition Assay	24
3.5 In-Vivo Anti-Inflammatory Assay	24
3.5.1. In-Vivo Acute Oral Toxicity (LD ₅₀) Study	24
3.6. In-Vivo Evaluation of Therapeutic Efficacy of <i>Dodonaea viscosa</i>	25
3.6.1. Animal Procurement	25
3.6.2. Mice Grouping for Experimentation	25
3.6.3. Arthritic Mice Model Preparation	26
3.6.4. CIA Scoring of Mice Models	26
3.6.5. Treatment with Plant Extract	27
3.6.6. Paw Size Measurements	27
3.6.7. Collection of Blood, Liver, Spleen and Paw	27
3.6.8. Spleen Indices	27
3.6.9. Estimation of Rheumatoid Factor	27
3.6.10. Liver Catalase Assay	27
3.6.11. Radiological Evaluation	28
3.6.12 Qualitative and Quantitative Analysis on CIA Model	28
3.6.12.1 Sandwich ELISA	28
3.6.12.2. RNA Extraction from Tissue Samples	29

3.6.12.3.	cDNA Synthesis
3.6.12.4.	Real-Time PCR
RESULTS	
4.1 Plant Extra	ct Preparation
4.2. Phytochem	ical Analysis of the Plant Extract
4.2.1. Qualita	ative Analysis
4.2.2. Quanti	tative Analysis
4.2.2.1 Tot	al Phenolics Content
4.2.2.2. To	tal Flavonoids Content
4.3 In-Vitro An	tioxidant Assays
4.3.1 DPPH ((1, 1-diphenyl- 2-picrylhydrazyl) assay
4.4. In-Vitro Ai	nti-Inflammatory Assay36
4.4.1 Albumi	n Denaturation Inhibition Assay
4.5. Toxicologic	cal Assay
4.5.1. Acute	Toxicity Analysis (LD ₅₀)
4.6. In-Vivo Ev	aluation of Therapeutic Efficacy of <i>Dodonaea viscosa</i>
4.6.1. Arthrit	tis Induction
4.6.2. Treatm	nent with standard drug and plant extract
4.6.3. Spleen	Indices
4.6.5. Rheum	atoid Factor Score40
4.6.6. Liver (Catalase Test
4.6.7. X-rays	of Hind Paws
4.6.8. Qualita	ative and Quantitative Analysis on CIA Model43
4.6.8.1. Qu	alitative Analysis (Sandwich ELISA)
4.6.8.2. Qu	antitative Analysis (Real-Time PCR)
DISCUSSION.	
CONCLUSION	NAND FUTURE PERSPECTS
REFERENCES	5

LIST OF ACRONYMS

ACPA	Anti-citrullinated protein antibodies
BALB	Bagg Albino Mice Strain
CFA	Complete Freund's adjuvant
CIA	Collagen-induced arthritis
CRP	C- reactive protein
D. viscosa	Dodonaea viscosa
DMARDs	Disease-modifying anti-rheumatoid drugs
DPPH	1, 1-diphenyl- 2-picrylhydrazyl assay
EULAR	European League Against Rheumatism
FRAP	Ferric reducing antioxidant power
IL	Interleukin
МНС	Major histocompatibility antigens
MMPs	Matrix metalloproteinases
NSAIDs	Non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs
PBS	Phosphate Buffer Saline
RANKL	Receptor activator of nuclear factor kappa-B ligand
RF	Rheumatoid factors
STAT	Signal transducer and activator
T2DM	Type-2 Diabetes mellitus
TNF-a	Tumor necrosis factor-alpha

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1 Overview of RA pathogenesis (Akram et al., 2021)
Figure 2 Frequently used clinical parameters for RA diagnosis (Lin et al., 2020a)7
Figure 3 Role of IL-6 in RA (Narazaki et al., 2017)
Figure 4 Dodonaea viscosa (Beshah et al., 2020)
Figure 5 Ethanolic extract of Dodonaea viscosa prepared using Soxhlet apparatus
Figure 6 Schematic diagram of arthritic induction via CIA injection on day 0, 7, 14 and 21
Figure 7 Ethanolic D.viscosa extract prepared using Soxhlet apparatus
Figure 8 Graph for total phenolics content of Dodonea viscosa extract of dry weight extract
Figure 9 Graph for total flavonoid content of Dodonea viscosa extract of dry weight extract
Figure 10 Graph shows increasing scavenging activity of Dodonaea viscosa with increase in concentration 36
Figure 11 Graph shows increasing ability of extract to inhibit protein denaturation
Figure 12 Paw measurement in mm ² of normal and arthritic mice with each injection administration
Figure 13 Significant reduction in paw size during of treatment with the leflunomide and Dodonaea viscosa 39
Figure 14 Comparison of spleen indices of each group showing significant results
Figure 15 Graph showing Rheumatoid factor for control, arthritic & treatment groups
Figure 16 Catalase activity for control, arthritic & treated groups was observed. n=6 in each group
Figure 17 Images (a), (b), (c), (d) shows the radiological examaination of all the groups
Figure 18 Graph showing Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay to evaluate relative IL-6 serum levels
Figure 19 Graph showing IL-6 expression in ankle joints detected by Real-time PCR

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1 Taxonomic hierarchy of Dodonaea viscosa (Beshah et al., 2020)	17
Table 2 Mice experimental groups	25
Table 3 Clinical CIA impairment scoring table	27
Table 4 RNA-primer mixture for cDNA synthesis	29
Table 5 cDNA synthesis mix	30
Table 6 Primer sequences for real-time PCR	30
Table 7 Optimised conditions for PCR reaction before performing real-time PCR	30
Table 8 Concentrations were optimzed before performing real-time PCR reaction	31
Table 9 Conditions were optimzed before performing real-time PCR reaction	31
Table 10 Phytochemical analysis of the plant extract in ethanol. + sign shows a positive	33
Table 11 Acute toxicity test suggested safe use of plant up to 5000 mg/kg	37
Table 12 Mice were divided into groups for treatment phase	39

ABSTRACT

Rheumatoid arthritis (RA) is a chronic autoimmune inflammatory disorder characterized by bone and cartilage damage. Several factors are involved in the onset and progression of the disease including environmental and genetic factors. Currently, there is no cure for rheumatoid arthritis, however, conventional treatments like disease-modifying anti-rheumatoid drugs, non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs, and glucocorticoids are available associated with various side effects. In ancient times, medicinal plants were used for prolonged treatments to combat various diseases. Medicinal herbs containing therapeutic phytochemicals are cost-effective and have fewer side effects can be a great alternative for RA treatment.

Dodonaea viscosa is traditionally used in various pathological conditions such as anti-inflammatory, analgesic, spasmolytic, antiviral, anti-microbial, laxative, rheumatism, hypotensive, gout, fractures, wound healing, hemorrhoids, and snake bites. This study focuses on analyzing *Dodonaea viscosa* for its anti-rheumatic potential.

In the present study the phytochemical analysis was performed, the ethanolic extract of the plant showed multiple bioactive compounds presence including phenols, cardiac glycosides, tannins, coumarins, steroids, sterols, terpenoids, saponins, flavonoids, deoxysugars, carbohydrates and resins. The extract contains antioxidant and anti-inflammatory properties assessed by percentage inhibition of albumin denaturation assay and DPPH (1, 1-diphenyl- 2-picrylhydrazyl) assay.

The anti-arthritic potential of the plant extract was further confirmed using collagen induced arthritis (CIA) BALB/c mouse models. During the in-vivo and ex-vivo studies, plant extract presented no toxic effects confirmed by acute toxicity (LD₅₀). The mice models were evaluated by different clinical parameters before and after RA induction and treatment by the plant. *D.viscosa* treated groups showed significant decrease in paw measurements compared to the arthritic groups. The x-rays of treated groups presented less inflammation of soft tissues and less bone destruction indicating the protective function of the plant. The group treated with plant showed serum levels for Rheumatoid factor score within the normal range. Similarly, the liver catalase test indicated less ROS species production in the plant extract treatment group proving its therapeutic potential.

Further studies were performed to assess the Interleukin-6 expression through Sandwich ELISA and Real-time PCR. During both qualitative, and quantitative studies, significantly lower concentrations of of interleukin-6 were observed in treatment groups (*D.viscosa*) compared to arthritic group proving the drugs to be effective for RA. The study confirmed the anti-arthritic potential of *Dodonaea viscosa* plant through in-vitro and in-vivo analysis. Further in-silico studies can be performed to elucidate the underlying mechanism.

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA)

Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA) is an autoimmune disease that causes severe inflammatory arthropathy. It is a syndrome associated with bone and cartilage damage leading to disability, pulmonary vasculitis, systemic complications along with increasing socioeconomic decline and mortalities (Murphy et al., 2008). The treatment for RA has been revolutionized with the discovery of novel therapeutics transforming the articular and systemic outcomes (Aletaha et al., 2010).

The pathogenesis of this disease involves an interplay of genetic, epigenetic, and environmental factors. Twin studies indicate substantial contribution of genetic factors in RA, with 5% concordance rate among dizygotic twins and 15% among monozygotic twins (Aho et al., 1986; Macgregor et al., 2000). RA has prevalence of 1% worldwide making it the most common inflammatory arthritis. The RA prevalence is observed to be predominant in developed countries in comparison with developing countries (Goulielmos et al., 2016).

Many studies indicate gender as a predictor of RA incidence that is observed to be thrice in women than men. Moreover, it is reported that RA symptoms are worse in females in comparison to the males because of association with hormonal factors and the disease. Thus, females are less likely to attain remission of RA. The difference indicates that the female body is more susceptible to autoimmune diseases due to more reactive and strong immune system than the males. However, the link between gender influence on the occurrence of disease is still unclear (Sokka et al., 2009).

The susceptibility of onset of RA is not dependent on age (Crowson et al., 2011). Most epidemiological studies have shown onset of the disease in the fifth decade of life. Whereas some studies indicate a later onset of the disease (T Riise et al., 2000).

Autoimmune diseases have no cure, and the treatments should be taken for lifetime to help reduce progression of the disease. The current available treatment includes DMARDs, NSAIDs, and corticosteroids. These conventional drug treatments have many adverse side effects, limited efficacy, and high costs (Majithia & Geraci et al., 2007). The ineffectiveness of all available biologics in RA patients attests to the heterogeneity of the disease. Thus, new approaches should be developed to minimize the side effects and provide quality of life to the RA patients.

1.1.1. Rheumatoid Arthritis Types

RA is associated with immune dysregulation. Evidence suggests that RA has different serotypes based on the role of circulating autoantibodies. Despite the clinical overlap of seropositive and seronegative RA serotypes, both reflect different entities of the disease with respect to genetic features, cellular pathology, and response to the therapy (Aletaha et al., 2010b).

1.1.1.1 Seropositive Rheumatoid Arthritis

The term RA seropositivity refers to the presence of immunoglobulin M (IgM) rheumatoid factor (RF) and of circulating anti-citrullinated protein antibodies (ACPAs) that are independently involved in joint destruction (Schellekens et al., 2000). These peptides play the role of autoantigens to activate the T cells leading to production of a pro-inflammatory environment. This further activates the B cells to generate autoantibodies causing joint and bone damage (Meyer et al., 2006). Considering ACPA along with RF status in a patient can improve the early detection (a few years before the disease onset (Aletaha et al., 2010; De Stefano et al., 2021).

1.1.1.2 Seronegative Rheumatoid Arthritis

Seronegative RA patients are tested negative for RF and/or ACPA. However, many studies suggest the resemblance of seronegative patients with seropositive patients regarding clinical features and risk factors after different screenings for IgA/IgG RF and ACPA fine-specificities (Reed et al., 2020).

Yet both serotypes are independently identified based on genetic and environmental factors along with presence of cytokines in synovial fluid. The primary phase of the disease in seronegative patients is more vigorous and shows weak therapeutic responsiveness (Trouw et al., 2013). Almost one-third of rheumatoid patients are seronegative for RA markers (Somers et al., 2011). A new potential biomarker other than RF and ACPAs is being identified in both seropositive and seronegative population but not in healthy controls. It can be recognized as a new serum biomarker for seronegative RA as they lack the presence of RF and ACPAs (Bason et al., 2021).

1.2 Epidemiology

The worldwide prevalence of RA is around 0.24%. However, it is estimated to be higher in the United States and other northern European countries of around 0.5-1%. Most of the data on RA comes from these countries due to more studies being conducted. The estimated annual incidence rate in United States and other European countries is 40 per 10,0000 individuals (McInnes & Schett et al., 2017)

From years 1980 to 2019, estimated RA global prevalence was 460 individuals per 100,000 people. Thevariation in the reported data is observed because of differences in research methodology and geographical location (Almutairi et al., 2021). Throughout the world, RA is reported to be developed three times more in female than the males. The reason behind this is still unknown. However, accordingto some studies, low testosterone and increased prolactin levels during breastfeeding increasing the chances of the development and progression of RA (Colquhoun et al., 2022a; Minichiello et al., 2016). The mortality rate of RA patients is expected to be decreased by 10-14 years. Although, the early diagnosis of RA in patients reduces the risks and increases the life expectancy.

In America, the RA prevalence is reported to vary from 0.9 % in the Canada and 0.6 % in the US (Cross,Smith, Hoy, Nolte, et al., 2014). In Africa, the RA prevalencedata is very scarce, however, the reported studies show very heterogenous data because of geographical and regional variations (Slimani & Ladjouze-Rezig et al., 2014). Disease prevalence in Asia measured to be 0.75 % in India, 0.142 % in Karachi (Pakistan), 0.6 %-1 % in Japan and 0.26 in South Korea (Malaviya et al., 1993; Abbas Naqvi et al., 2017; Dougados et al., 2014).

In Pakistan, a study reported RA prevalence to be 26.9 % in Karachi with an average 44 years of age. Another study showed a significant correlation between clinical depression and disability in the patients (S. M. Alam et al., 2011).

1.3 Etiology of RA

Autoimmune diseases, like RA, are of unknown origin. In the early times, the onset of RA was only linked with the role of genetic and epigenetic factors. However, current studies confirmed the correlation of environmental factors with the inception of the disease (Karami et al., 2019a).

1.3.1 Genetic Risk Factors

Studies have estimated the heritability of RA to be approximately 60 % affecting both male and female (Alamanos & Drosos et al., 2005). The major genetic factors implicated in the pathogenesis of the disease are human leukocyte antigens (HLA) and non-HLA genes. Both HLA and non-HLA genes are associated with autoimmunity to anti-citrullinated protein antibody (ACPA) (Szodoray et al., 2010).

1.3.1.1 HLA Genes

Human Leukocyte Antigen (HLAgenes) have major role in body's defense against immune system and diseases. Human Leukocyte Antigen – antigen D Related is a cell surface receptor of MHC ClassII encoded by human leukocyte antigen complex on chromosome 6 region 6p21.31. Some HLA alleles, such as HLA- DRB1 (DR4 and DR1) are highly linked with RA (Karami et al., 2019b).

The haplotypes (HLA-DRB1*04, DRB1*10, and DRB1*01) produce a "shared epitope (SE)" made upof 5 amino acid motifs: QKRAA, QRRAA or RRRAA in DRB1 chain resulting in increased susceptibility to RA. The SE codes for the positivity charged P4 peptide bonding pocket (Gregersen etal., 1987). The shared epitope bearing HLA-DRB1 haplotype acts as identification markers in seropositive or ACPA- positive RA patients. However, the non-shared epitope bearing haplotypes suchas HLA-DR3 act as markers for seronegative or ACPA negative RA (Scherer et al., 2020). The SE HLA-DRB1 alleles contribute 11 % to the genetic variance of the disease (Van Der Woude et al., 2009).

1.3.1.2 Non-HLA Genes

Other than HLA-DR alleles, many studies suggested the strong link between the non-HLAgenes with the susceptibility of the disease. Several studies identified the contribution of 31 non-HLA loci to RA risk. The second strongest association after HLA-DRB1 is shown by the gene encoding the intracellular phosphatase protein tyrosine phosphatase non-receptor type 22 (PTPN22). The association of this allele is found with many other autoimmune diseases such as type I diabetes, lupus, systemic sclerosis, Addison's disease, and others (Goëb et al., 2008). PTPN22 is implicated in the signalling of T and B cells (Qamar & Mukherjee et al., 2021; Rieck et al., 2007). Other than PTPN22, strong linkage of IL23R genes is confirmed with RA predisposition. (Faragó et al., 2008). PADI4 haplotype association with RA was observed in Asian population. *PADI4* gene encodes for the peptidylarginine-deiminase 4 (PADI4) enzyme that plays role in protein citrullination, an important factor contributing to the development of the disease (Cha et al., 2007).

Analyzing anti-rheumatic properties of novel medicinal flora (Dodonaea viscosa) through expression analysis 3

Chapter 1: Introduction

1.3.2.1 Environmental Factors

Various studies confirmed the involvement of lifestyle-related factors and environmental factors in the development and progression of RA.

1.3.2.1.1 Smoking

Tobacco exposure is one of the strongest environmental features that shows a consistent association with RA. In various geographical regions, smoking is associated with the development extraarticular manifestations, such as cardiovascular complications and nodulosis (Lee et al., 2007). The relative risk of RF-seropositive RA in individuals with SE genes was estimated to be 2.8% in non-smokers, 7.5% in smokers. Moreover, smokers with two SE genes showed 15.7 relative risk of RF-seropositive RA (Padyukov et al., 2004). Tobacco smoke promotes synovial proteins citrullination leading to ACPA formation. In Western and Northern European cohorts, smokers carrying SE alleles showed increased ACPA positive RA chances (Pedersen et al., 2006).

1.3.2.1.2 Gut microbiota

The composition of the microbiota in RA patients is altered. This leads to the activation of intestinal TH17 cells that further promotes arthritis development in mice (Giannini et al., 2020).

Numerous infectious agents such as E coli, Proteus species EBV, heat-shock proteins, cytomegalovirus and many others are associated with RA. This association is linked due to similarities in the sequence between foreign and self-pathogen derived peptides causing production of autoreactive T and B cells. This phenomenon is known as molecular mimicry. Immune complexes formed during infection result in production of RF factor that is a strong affinity autoantibody against IgE and IgG (Kharlamova et al., 2016). Other gut microbiota such as Proteus mirabilis and Klebsiella pneumonia are linked withseropositive RA (Taneja et al., 2014).

1.3.2.1.3 Hormones

RA incidence in females is more common than in males. The actual mechanism is still unknown, however, there must a female hormonal variable than is impacting the risk of RA. The majorfactors that appear to be contributing to RA are early menopause, polycystic ovary syndrome, use of oral contraceptives and others. Moreover, estrogen also plays a role in RA development as it is involved in bone formation and maturation. It is reported that pregnancy and breastfeeding reduce the risk of RAdevelopment. However, single women are less likely to develop RA (Alpízar-Rodríguez & Finckh et al., 2017; Deane et al., 2017).

1.3.2.1.4 Role of Diet

Multiple dietary factors are variably associated with RA such as lack of vitamin D in diet, higher intakeof red meats, sugar, sodium, iron, and protein enhances the risk for susceptibility of RA (Merlino et al., 2004; Benito-Garcia et al., 2007). The consistent finding across different studies identified increased.

Intake of fish and omega-4 fatty acid reduces the risk for RA. Studies identified that by adding supplements like omega-3 fatty acid and other fatty acids biomarkers are found to reduce the progression of the disease (Linos et al., 2009).

Vitamin deficiency is highly observed in RA patients. Vitamin D plays a powerful anti-inflammatory role that leads to the reduction of IL-17 and IFN+T cells that are linked to RA. Moreover, in RA patients the synovial fluid containing T cells show less sensitivity towards vitamin D. Hence vitamin D restoration can act as a promising therapeutic approach for the disease (Badsha et al., 2018).

1.4 Pathogenesis of Rheumatoid Arthritis

Various genetic, epigenetic, and environmental factors influence the susceptibility, progression, and severity of the disease. Numerous immune modulators like cytokines and various effector cells are attributed to the pathogenesis of RA. These immune modulators have complex interactions with each other resulting injoint damage that starts at synovial membrane (Smolen & Steiner et al., 2003). Other than the joint complications, various RA patients deal with extra-articular or systemic problems. In some cases, the patients experience both extra-articular and systemic features at the same time resulting in more severity of the disease (Hochberg et al., 2008).

The first event in pathogenesis of RA is the activation of innate immune system. This happens by exogenous and autologous antigens activating dendritic cells that further provokes adaptive immune responses. The antigen-presenting cells (APCs) further activate the T cells by presenting arthritis-associated antigens to the class II MHCmolecules (Choy et al., 2012a). This results in activation and expansion of T cells in the joints. In the synovialmembrane, the T cells are further upregulated through various lymphokines including IL-2 and IFN- γ lymphokines. The activated T cells stimulate the production of B cells, macrophages, osteoclasts, and fibroblasts (Ehrenstein et al., 2004). The stimulated B lymphocytes not only contribute to the pathogenesis of RA through presenting antigens, but also through production of antibodies, cytokines, and autoantibodies. The B cells express differentiation antigens such as CD20 and CD22 molecules. The differentiation of B lymphocytes into plasma cells results in secretion of antibodies and autoantibodies to citrullinated peptides, RA antigens, IgG, fibrinogens, and others. Autoantibodies produce large immune complexes that further stimulate proinflammatory cytokines. Other than antigen presentation, APCs also contribute to osteoclastogenesis that is the prominent source of cytokines like TNF- α , IL-1 and IL-6. Several inflammatory mediators such as prostaglandins(PGs) and matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) are produced within the synovial membrane due to the overproduction of fibroblast-like synoviocytes resulting in bone and cartilage destruction. The most dominant pro-inflammatory cytokines are TNF- α and IL-6, which are involved in the pathobiology of the disease. (Nakahara et al., 2003; Kudo et al., 2003).



Figure 1 Overview of RA pathogenesis (Akram et al., 2021)

1.5. Diagnosis

RA is an inflammatory disease mainly affecting hands and feet joints. Many complicationsare linked with RA such as oligo-or polyarthritis in certain cases and sometimes monoarthritis as well (Colquhoun et al., 2022b). In 90 % of the patients, joint damage can be prevented through early diagnosis. Some common symptoms of RA include joint stiffness especially in hands and feet, edema and pain in the metacarpophalangeal joints, metatarsophalangeal joints and autoantibodies presence in body are all signs of RA (Aletaha & Smolen et al., 2018a).

Diagnosis of RA is based on clinical features of the patient like X ray images and presence/absence of serological markers (autoantibodies). The most common serological marker is rheumatoid factor (RF) whose presence or absence determines RA in the body. Another more targeted and sensitive marker for RA is the anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide antibody (ACPA) that helps in prognosis and diagnosis of the disease (Choi & Lee et al., 2018).

Moreover, a single blood test is not enough hence multiple tests are recommended for timely diagnosisand therapy of RA. These blood tests include identification of inflammatory markers, antibodies test like Rheumatoid factor, and anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide (ACP) and imaging tests (Colquboun et al., 2022b).

The European League against Rheumatism (EULAR) established a criterion to help clinicians identify RA patients during clinical investigations (Aggarwal et al., 2015; Radner et al., 2014). The guidelines include cumulative points of at least 6 (out of a potential 10) from four domains that are as following:

- Location and number of joints involved.
- Presence of serological markers (RF and ACPA)
- Elevated inflammatory markers
- Time period for presence of symptoms

Criteria		Points
Joint involvement:	1 large 2 – 10 large 1 – 3 small 4 – 10 small > 10 (at least 1 small)	0 1 2 3 5
Serology:	Negative RF and ACPA Low positive RF/ACPA High positive RF/ACPA	0 2 3
Acute phase reactants:	Normal CRP/ESR Abnormal CRP/ESR	0
Symptom duration:	< 6 weeks > 6 weeks	0 1
		Σ = overall score

Figure 2 Frequently used clinical parameters for RA diagnosis (Lin et al., 2020a)

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Autoimmunity

The immune system detects and destroys foreign antigens such as infectious agents or toxins. Lymphocytes are the most important immune cells involved in fighting external entities. However, due to the presence of diverse and large immune cell population, it becomes inevitable to avoid reactivity with the self-antigens. These self-antigens are the body's own proteins that detected as foreign particles leading to complicated diseases known as autoimmune diseases (Wahren Dorner et al., 2013).

Multiple epidemiological studies provide evidence of steady rise in autoimmune diseases worldwide. Autoimmunity is the same response as directed towards an infection by adaptive immune system. The self-antigens are recognized by T and B cell receptors leading to chronic inflammatory responses. The autoimmune responses can be localized or systemic. However, the trigger for the onset of an autoimmune response is unknown as many factors are involved. Many studies have reported that an infection can also trigger autoimmunity by releasing antigens like the body's own cells. Studies show evidence of multiple environmental and genetic factors influencing the susceptibility of autoimmune diseases such as in case of RA (Goodnow et al., 2005).

2.2 Role of B Cells

Both the innate and adaptive immune responses play a relative immunopathogenic part in various phases of RA. The overall course of the disease is categorized in three different stages i.e, initiation of the disease known as antigen independent phase involving the constituents of joints, perpetuation that involves inflammatory responses to specific antigens, terminal destruction that involves synovium degradation. The role of B lymphocytes is still unclear, but their contribution is quite significant in associating innate and adaptive immune system to promote inflammation by cellular components. Theoveractivation of B-cells causes the immune cells to migrate through chemokine receptors intosynovium. This step leads to further activation of T and B-cells to agglomerate and make tertiary follicular structures. These complex structures express CD40 ligand and produce cytokines such as IL-6 and IL-10 triggering the stimulation of B-cells, hence the increased mutagenesis in synovium. The over activated T-cells and B-cells aggravates the production of autoantibodies resulting in severe RA symptoms (Schröder et al., 1996; Dörner Burmester et al., 2003).

Moreover, B cells are also involved in producing rheumatoid factor (RF) and synthesizing B cellsmediated anti-CCP. The presence of B cells- mediated anti-CCP improved RA diagnosis by 90-98 %. Such patients are more prone to bone erosion, persistent joints, loss of function and other comorbidities (Koga et al., 2017).

2.3 Role of T Cells

In RA, T cells play the most pivotal role by activating the fibroblasts and macrophagesto act as tissue destructive cells. The activation of macrophages produces a range of chemokines and cytokines to

aggravate inflammation in joints. T cells are further activated by B cells, dendritic cells or macrophages causing CD4+ T-cells to interact with MHC-II and HLA molecules. The stimulation of CD4+ T-cells co-activates the CD28 molecules present on APCs to provoke the initiation of P13K signaling downstream signaling. This signaling is involved in antigenic activation of naïve CD8+ T- cells, CD4+ cells maturation, thus promoting inflammatory responses. CD4+ T-cells are also associated with the HLA-DR4 allele along with increased secretion of cytokines and chemokines causing more aggressive symptoms of RA. The type 1 T-helper cells (Th1) are involved in secretion of pro- inflammatory cytokines such as IFN-gamma (IFN- γ), TNF- α and IL-2 secretions. However, another type of CD4+ type 2 T-helper cells (Th2) are associated with B-cells activation by releasing anti- inflammatory cytokines such as IL-5 & IL-4. Moreover, IL-17 serum levels are reported to be higher inRA patients whose secretion is triggered by Th17 cells. IL-17 triggers the secretion of chemokine, pro- inflammatory cytokines, and matrix metalloproteinases (MMPs) and production of IL-8, MMP-1, VEGF-A, IL-6, and MMP-3 in the synovial fibroblasts. Moreover, many studies reported the involvement of IL-17 in osteoclastogenesis, pannus growth and neoangiogenesis. These multiple typesof T-cells and associated pathways lead to severe inflammation resulting in RA(Yap et al., 2018; Luckheeram et al., 2012).

2.4 Role of Cytokines

Various cytokines play their role in crucial biological processes such as cell growth and repair, inflammation, differentiation, proliferation, and immune responses regulation. Cytokines also play a crucial role in chronic inflammation leading to joint destruction during the pathogenesis of RA. Some cytokines are the protective immune regulating molecules known as anti-inflammatory cytokines such as IL-4, IL-10, IL-13, IL-27, and IL-35. While others are pro-inflammatory cytokines such as TNF-alpha, IL-1, IL-33, and IL-17 etc. They are associated with inflammation, cartilage and joint destruction, synovitis, and bone erosion (Mateen et al., 2016). TNF-alpha plays a prominent role in stimulation of proinflammatory cytokines that severely affects the physiological balance of 'ant-inflammatory' andpro-inflammatory mediators (J. Alam et al., 2017). Moreover, IL-6 is particularly involved in triggering neutrophils that further secrete intermediates of reactive oxygen and proteolytic enzymes causing inflammation and joint damage (Choy et al., 2012b).

2.5 Role of IL-6 in RA

In RA patients, high IL-6 serum levels are identified in synovial fluid suggesting a correlation with laboratory and clinical indices of RA. IL-6 acts as a multifunctional cytokine that contributes to the most crucial role in localized and systemic inflammation by providing SOS signal fortriggering the host defense response (Kishimoto et al., 2005; Tanaka et al., 2014). In case of infections, monocytes and macrophages produce IL-6 to stimulate the immunogenic and hematological responses required for pathogen elimination and tissue healing. Although, IL-6 and its prolonged elevated expression triggers chronic inflammatory activities in the body (Tanaka et al., 2012).

2.5.1. IL-6 Role in Immune Responses

During responses by acquired immune system, IL-6 is key cytokine is activating B and T lymphocytes.It activates the production of B lymphocytes into Ig-producing plasma cells that causes hypergammaglobulinemia and B cell stimulating factor 2 leading to chronic inflammation (Chihara et al., 2011). It is also involved in mechanisms that ensure the survival of precursor of plasma cells i.e., B-cell subpopulation plasmablasts. In synovium, circulating plasma cells and plasmoblasts are widely distributed acting as a source of ACPA in RA patients (Kerkman et al., 2016).

In the case of T cells, IL-6 is involved in naïve CD4 + T cells differentiation. Moreover, IL-6 causes Th17 differentiation in association with transforming growth factor (TGF)- β that further results in secretion of IL-17, TNF α and IL-6 and plays the role of primary effector cells in autoimmune responses. However, IL-6 is also associated with TGF- β -induced regulatory T (Treg) cell differentiation inhibition that is involved in maintaining homeostasis of immune system and prevention of autoimmunediseases (Bettelli et al., 2006; Kimura & Kishimoto et al., 2010). Thus, IL-6 involvement results in Th17/Treg balance upregulation that is a pathological indication of multiple inflammatory autoimmune diseases including RA (Ma et al., 2012)

In addition to this, IL-6 develops a link between T cells and B cells. The production of IL-21 and differentiation of T follicular helper (Tfh) cells is also regulated by IL-6 that stimulates T cell-dependentB cell response and helps in immunoglobin class switching of B lymphocytes. Th17 and Tfh cells are involved in the regulation of tertiary lymphoid organs activated by inflammatory signals in the damaged tissue (Jones & Jones et al., 2016). These tertiary lymphoid organs produce autoantibodies strongly associated with aggravation of RA (Humby et al., 2009). The transition from innate to adaptive immunity is also linked with IL-6 based on neutrophils to monocytes and T cells (Kaplanski et al., 2003a; Hurst et al., 2001).

2.5.2. IL-6 in RA Pathogenesis

Various studies have reported less than 4 pg/ml IL-6 serum levels in healthy individuals. However, during infection or inflammatory diseases such as RA, the IL-6 serum levels are indicated between 10-100 pg/ml. In RA, synovial cells are prominent producers of IL-6, thus the IL-6 levelsin synovial fluids are higher than IL-6 serum levels. In pathogen-induced lesions, the production of IL-6 is induced by stimulated intracellular or cell-surface toll-like receptors (TLRs) such as that present on the macrophages and monocytes containing TLR-recognizing microbial components called as pathogen-associated molecular patterns (PAMPs) (Kawai & Akira et al., 2010). Several in-vitro studies identified the response to autoantigens was increased secretion of IL-17A, IL-6 and IL-23 secreted by naïve T cells that were cocultured with RA-microbiota stimulated dendritic cells in comparison with Tcells cocultured with healthy control-microbiota stimulated dendritic cells.(Maeda et al., 2016) This suggests that the dysbiosis of intestinal microbiota leads to pathogenesis of RA. Necrotic cells and the damaged extracellular matrix

release special molecules with damage-associated molecular patterns (DAMPs) that further trigger the TLRs to release IL-6 and other inflammatory cytokines (Kawai & Akira et al., 2010). Various studies indicated the presence of DAMPs in the tissues and synovial fluid of RA patients suggesting the involvement of DAMPs-TLRs pathway in the release of elevated levels inflammatory cytokines in joints. (Pope & Huang et al., 2009). Moreover, IL-6 stimulation is also achieved by activation of coagulation cascade. Various studies identified the release of IL-6 by administration of coagulation factor VIIa (De Jonge et al., 2003). Other than that, thrombin activates endothelial cells to secrete IL-6 (Kaplanski et al., 2003b). Fibrin also contributes to elevated levels of IL-6 via TLR4 in synovial fibroblasts of RA patients. It is reported that the citrullinated fibrin (RA specific autoantigen) involvedin more expression of IL-6 than the non-citrullinated fibrin in synovial fibroblasts (Sanchez-Pernaute et al., 2013).

However, the triggering factor in expression of IL-6 in the joints of RA patients is still unclear. Synovium inflammation promotes infiltration of inflammatory cells and synovial hyperplasia, while persistent synovitis induces joint swelling, pannus formation, neovascularization, and destruction of joints. These damaged joints further elevate the inflammation and promote the production of tertiary lymphoid follicles that leads to release of autoantibodies and exacerbated synovitis.

2.5.2.1 Therapeutic Targeting of IL-6 in RA

Different studies confirmed IL-6 role in pathogenesis of RA in various RA animal models by administration of IL-6-neutralizing antibody or IL-6-deficient mice such as anti-mouse IL-6 receptor mAb or IL-6 deficiency inhibited collagen-induced arthritic mice (Banda et al., 2002; Kishimoto et al., 2005; Tanaka et al., 2012). Similarly, another study indicated mild symptoms of RA in IL-6 deficient mice for methylated-BSA antigen-induced arthritis. However, the control mice group showed severe arthritic symptoms including pannus formation, neovascularization, and erosion of articular cartilage (Ohshima et al., 1998). All these observations led to the notion that blocking IL-6 expression could be considered a strategy for RA patients.



Figure 3 Role of IL-6 in RA (Narazaki et al., 2017)

2.6 Available Treatments for Rheumatoid Arthritis

Treatment is given to RA patients to reduce the symptoms of the disease within a period of 6 months. Generally, the treatment is useful to avert joint damage and reduce the long-term disabilities associated with RA. Personalized treatment is provided to the patients based on the health condition. Many factors contribute to making the treatment regime of that patient such asage, type of joint involved, disease progression and education etc. There are three main categories of available drugs for RA that are classified in the following categories: NSAIDs, glucocorticoids and DMARDs.

2.6.1 Analgesics (NSAIDs)

The first identified NSAID was salicylates, which was based on the salicylic acid extracted from the bark of willow trees. They provide the first line of therapy to reduce inflammation and pain, however, further progression of disease such as joint injury is not treated (Smolen et al., 2016). Nonsteroidal anti-inflammatory medicines (NSAIDs) are known for their fast action. They suppress the formation of prostacyclin (PGs) that is a product of arachidonic acid, and thromboxanes by cyclo-oxygenase inhibition. Arachidonic acid is a cell membrane phospholipid that acts as a chemical messenger duringtissue damage.

The conversion of arachidonic acid into PGs is accomplished by cyclooxygenase (COX)enzyme. NSAIDs suppress the production of PGs due to inflammation and tissue damage by inhibiting cyclooxygenase (COX). Moreover, cyclooxygenase-1 enzyme (COX-1) is inhibited by NSAIDs in different tissues like gastroduodenal mucosa and platelets causinggastrointestinal bleeding and ulceration that is indicated as a common side effect of persistent use of NSAIDs (Crofford et al., 2013).

One of the examples of NSAIDs is Aspirin (acetylsalicylate), the oldest anti-inflammatory drug used for joint discomfort, used in large dosages for RA patients. Some other drugs such as Ibuprofen (Advil, Motrin), naproxen (Naprosyn), and etodolac (Lodine) are also equally effective as aspirin. However, these medications are used in less dosages on daily basis (Bullock et al., 2018). Other than RA, NSAIDsare also used for reducing the symptoms associated with hepatic, renal, cardiovascular, and gastrointestinal effects (Crofford et al., 2013; Lin et al., 2020b).

2.6.2 Glucocorticoids

Glucocorticoids (GCs) are anti-inflammatory and immunomodulatory drugs that work by affecting primary and secondary immune cells. The most used GCs include prednisone, prednisolone, methylprednisolone, and dexamethasone. They function by inhibiting the activity of endothelial cells, fibroblasts, and leucocytes by limiting access to the site of inflammation. Moreover, GCs also suppress the production and activities of inflammatory humoral factors (Buttgereit et al., 2005).

GCs inhibit helper T cells (TH1) that further lowers the levels of proinflammatory cytokines. These drugs are proved to be effective in evading RA symptoms including morning stiffness, fatigue, pain and swelling of the joints. However, the side effects of long-term use of these medications include anxiety, depression, and manyothers (Ferreira et al., 2016). These drugs are used in low doses, due to more negative side effects thanNSAIDs, although the dose can be increased as per requirement of the RA patient.

2.6.3. Disease Modifying Anti-Rheumatic Drugs (DMARDs)

The objective of second-line therapy is to cause remission of the symptoms by reducing the progression of joint deformity and degeneration. DMARDs are considered as slow-acting medications that lessen the risk of lymphoma, greatly associated with RA patients (Bullock et al., 2018; Smolen et al., 2010). The available DMARDs are divide into three categories:

- Traditional synthetic DMARDs
- Targeted synthetic DMARDs
- Biologic agents (Littlejohn and Monrad et al., 2018).

2.6.3.1 Traditional Synthetic DMARDs

Conventional DMARDs are helpful to prevent damage to the tissues and joints. Moreover, these medications are non-specific immunomodulatory medications that help in reducing the course of the

disease (Littlejohn & Monrad et al., 2018).

The most significant traditional DMARD is methotrexate that is used for multiple reasons including for the treatment of RA for more than 50 years. Methotrexate can be used alone or in combination of glucocorticoids to reduce disease activity in almost 50% of the patients (Aletaha & Smolen et al., 2018b). In comparison to the DMARD monotherapy, triple therapy i.e., methotrexate & hydroxychloroquine is an effective regime for obtaining measurable results (Littlejohn & Monrad et al., 2018). Moreover, these medications are non-specific immunomodulatory medications that help in reducing the course of the disease (Littlejohn & Monrad et al., 2018).

2.6.3.2 Targeted Synthetic DMARDs

As the name suggests, the targeted DMARDs targets specific pathways involved in exhibiting inflammatory responses such as JAK-STAT pathway mediated by cytokines. The pathway is carried out when the pro-inflammatory cytokines attach to their receptors. In response to this, JAKs are recruited leading to the phosphorylation of receptor's intracytoplasmic components that further phosphorylates the STATs. The phosphorylated STATs homodimerize and translocate to the nucleus of the relevant cell. Thus, enhances the expression of pro-inflammatory genes to sustain tissue and joint damage (Damsky & King et al., 2017; Kotyla et al., 2018).

These medication work as inhibitors of the JAK family such as JAK1, JAK2, & JAK3, hence the downstream phosphorylation is also blocked resulting in low inflammatory cytokines expression. These drugs have made a substantial advance to treat RA in recent years such as Tofacitinib and Baricitinib (Damsky & King et al., 2017).

2.6.3.3 Biologic Agents

The biological agents work by targeting specific components of immune system (Rahimizadeh et al., 2021). There are four potential mechanisms by which biological DMARDs work; these are as follows:

- TNF-alpha or TNF(R) neutralization (Adalimumab, infliximab, Etanercept)
- IL-6 or its receptor neutralization (Tocilizumab)
- Scarcity of B cells (Rituximab)
- Suppression of T cell co-stimulation (Grijalva et al., 2007; Rein &Mueller et al., 2017; Kiely & Nikiphorou et al., 2018)

The efficacy of targeted DMARDs can be improved by using coupled therapy with conventional DMARDs(methotrexate) and biologic agents (Grijalva et al., 2007). These are mostly used in the later stage of the disease when the patients stop responding to the conventional DMARDs (Chaudhari et al., 2016).

2.6.4. Side Effects Medications

Various studies reported the toxic side effects of available RA medications. Longer use of NSAIDs (more than 1 year) damages the gastroduodenal mucosa and causes upper GI bleeding, and stomach ulcers with other minor side-effects like dyspepsia and nausea. However, DMARDs show better results than NSAIDs, thus used as the first-line therapy according to the current clinical guidelines (Fries et al., 2000). On the other hand, corticosteroids possess excessive side effects but are more potent than NSAIDs. They are instructed to be taken in small dosages for a shorter period. The side effects cause bone thinning, diabetes, weight gain and immunosuppression (Liu et al., 2013).

2.7. Medicinal Plants

The current pharmacological treatments improve the quality of life, yet their side effects increase the chances of various systemic comorbidities such as cardiovascular and gastrointestinal diseases. As a result, the contemporary medical landscape favors traditional herbs and plants.

Since early times, plants have been used in ethnobotanical medicines and the information is passed on from generations to generations. The pharmacological industry gained extreme interest in medicinal plants because of their safe and effective use. Not all parts of the plant are used as there is a difference in the distribution of phytochemicals used against the disease in the different parts of plant. The herbal medications gained popularity among patients too due to fewer side effects and greater biocompatibility with term use when compared to allopathic pharmaceutics (Pandey & Tiwari et al., 2018; Singh et al., 2020a). According to the World Health Organization (WHO), there are 200,000 potential plant species and morewith medicinal properties.

2.7.1 Ethnobotanical Medicines as an Alternative Treatment for RA

Since ancient times, herbal medicines have been used to treat a variety of diseases. Researchers are increasingly interested in medical molecules produced from plants, as presently available medications either are expensive or have undesirable side effects (Sharmila et al., 2017). Various studies identified medicinal plants as an excellent alternative for RA treatment. There is a paradigm shift towards ethnomedicines proved to be safe and effective. Traditional medicinal plants with active ingredients such as terpenes, phenols, flavonoids, lactones, and carotenoids, as well as antioxidant and anti-inflammatory qualities, are successful therapy for RA (Singh et al., 2020b). However, very little

scientific evidence is available, hence scientific validation is required to further identify the medicinal properties on these plants.

In Nigeria, the pre-dominantly used plants against RA include ginger and garlic (Tongshuwar et al., 2020). *Vitex negudo* is used to treat rheumatism and many other diseases in India, China, and Unani along with rice, garlic, and gul. Similarly, *Piper longum, Aloe vera, Cassia fistula, Curcuma longa*, and *Lantana camara* are among the plants used Rheumatism treatment (Pandey et al., 2018).

In Pakistan, out of 6000 wild plant species 400-600 species are considered therapeutically important. Around 371 medicinal plant species belonging to 263 genera and 99 families are considered important for medicinal used against inflammatory disease in Pakistan. Most of these plants belong to the families of Asteraceae and Fabaceae are in Punjab and Khyber Pakhtunkhwa regions. The commonly used medicinal plants against various inflammatory diseases in Pakistan include *Berberis lycium Royle, Citrullus colocynthis*(*L.*) *Schrad, Calotropis procera* (*Wild.*), *Datura innoxia Mill, Ricinus communis L* and *Verbascum thapsus L* (Amjad et al., 2017; Rashid et al., 2015; Shah et al., 2021).

2.8 Subspecies of Dodonaea viscosa

Different species of *Dodonaea* are extensively used for medicinal purposes in various diseases. It is being used for a variety of pathological conditions including anti-inflammatory, analgesic, spasmolytic, antiviral, anti-microbial, laxative, rheumatism, hypotensive, gout, fractures, wound healing, hemorrhoids, and snake bites (Ghisalberti et al., 1998). Traditionally, the leaves, stems and fruits of this plantget utilized to make medicine. The most studied *Dodonaea* species include *D. angustifolia* and *D. Viscosa* (Shtein et al., 2011a). There are many subspecies available of *Dodonaea viscosa* such as:

- D.viscosa subsp.angustafolia
- D.viscosa subsp. Angustissima
- D.viscosa subsp. Burmanniana
- D.viscosa subsp. Cuneata
- D.viscosa subsp. Mucronate
- D.viscosa subsp. Spatulate
- D.viscosa (L.) Jacq. subsp. Viscosa

2.8.1 Taxonomic Hierarchy

Kingdom	Plantae
Subkingdom	Tracheobionta
Superdivision	Spermatophyta

Analyzing anti-rheumatic properties of novel medicinal flora (Dodonaea viscosa) through expression analysis 16

Division	Magnoliophyta
Class	Angiosperms
Order	Sapindales
Family	Sapindaceae
Genus	Dodonaea
Species	Dodonaea viscosa

Table 1 Taxonomic hierarchy of Dodonaea viscosa (Beshah et al., 2020)

2.8.2 Dodonaea viscosa

D.viscosa belongs to angiosperms (flowering plants) with almost 2000 species found in America, Africa, Australia, and southern Asia in temperate, tropical, and subtropical climates. It is named after a Flemish botanist, Rembert Dodoens. However, the term viscosa comes from the word viscous, which means 'sticky' (Ahmad Khaira et al., 2018). Different variations can be seen in different parts of the plant based on temperature and geographical location such as difference in the size and form of leaves (Shtein et al., 2011b).

The plant can thrive in coastal areas and is drought resistant. Although, it is frost-sensitive and does not thrive in the shade. *Dodonaea viscosa* has different names in different countries such as:

- In Australia: hop bush
- In Guam: lampuaye
- In New Zealand: akeake
- In Palau: mesechelangel
- In Argentina: chirca
- In Mexico: romerillo
- In Colombia: hayuelo
- In Pakistan: sanatha
- In Afghanistan: ghoraskai



Figure 4 Dodonaea viscosa (Beshah et al., 2020)

2.8.3 Geographical Location

Dodonaea viscosa is located worldwide across the southern hemisphere, including New Zealand, Australia, Southeast Asia, Latin America, and Arica as well as the southern United States. In Pakistan, 'Sanatha' may be found in Kala Chitta. Malakand, Parachinar, salt ranges in Pabbi Hills, Khyber Pass, Fort Sundyman, Nizampur, and Haripur's sub-mountain regions.

2.8.4 Ethnomedicinal uses of Dodonaea viscosa

D.viscosa is utilized for treating various ailments. The plant leaves are used for treating gastrointestinal diseases, wounds, skin problems and rheumatism, swelling, rash, and bone disorders (Rojas et al., 1992). Moreover, plant roots are used to cure headaches and ulcers. The plant is also used by making a mixture of roots and leaves (paste) as a remedy for indigestion, dental pain, constipation, and diarrhea (Rojas et al., 1996).

2.8.5 Studies on Plant Phytochemical Analysis

Phytochemicals are produced in the plant body by various primary and secondary metabolisms. Many factors contribute to the variation in the synthesis of metabolites including environmental factors, geographical locations, age, parts of the plant, and extraction procedures (Beshah et al., 2020; Sampaio et al., 2016).

The ethanolic and aqueous extracts of *Dodonaea viscosa* leaves showed the presence of saponins, flavonoids, steroids, terpenoids, triterpenoids, alkaloids, anthraquinone, polyphenols, glycosides, coumarins, while tannins were present only in aqueous extract. The most common compounds isolated from *Dodonaea viscosa* are different derivatives of flavonoids, isoprenylated flavanol, diterpenoids, saponins, volatile oils, and sterols (Hossain et al., 2019).

2.8.6 Pharmacological Properties of Dodonaea viscosa

Antioxidants strengthen the immune responses by controlling various underlying mechanisms. The acetonic and aqueous plant extract showed good antioxidant activity and a total reducing power (Malik et al., 2022). A research was conducted to identify the antioxidant effects of *D.viscosa*, through techniques through GCMS, HPLC, and FT-IR, shows remarkable results against damage produced by CCL4 in the liver, spleen, and kidney (Tong et al., 2021).

Many studies proved the anti-inflammatory role of *D.visosa* during inflammatory responses. Different inflammatory compounds are extracted from various plants. A study compared the plant extract efficacy with the standard drug indomethacin showed increased anti-inflammatory activity in (TPA) induced mice with different doses of Hautriwaic Acid (a diterpene, isolated from *Dodonaea viscosa*) (Salinas-Sánchez et al., 2012). Similarly, a compound Nebrodenside A isolated from *Dodonaea viscosa* showed significantly reduced inflammation in carrageenan-induced mice as compared to standard drug diclofenac (Khan et al., 2019).

The wound healing potential was confirmed using chloroform and methanol extract of *Dodonaea viscosa* that further predicted one active constituent or synergistic effect of more than one bioactive molecule (Nayeem et al., 2021). Moreover, the anti-diarrheal, and antimotility activity was also assessed in Swiss Albino mice using methanol extract (80%) of *Dodonaea viscosa*. Furthermore, this study confirmed the non-toxicity of the plant extract up to a dose of 2000mg/ml (Abdela et al., 2019).

METHODOLOGY

3.1. Plant Extract Preparation

Dodonaea viscosa plant leaves were collected from Margalla Hills, Islamabad, Pakistan. The accession number of plant was 00046453 that was retrieved from the Pakistan Museum of Natural History (PMNH). *Dodonaea viscosa* leaves were dried and converted into fine powder through mechanical grinder. The preparation of plant extract was done using Soxhlet apparatus. To make the extract, 20 g ofthe powdered leaves were dissolved in 200 ml of ethanol with a ratio of 1:10. The powdered leaves wereplaced in the thimble chamber of the Soxhlet apparatus and Whatman filter paper was used for filtration. The temperature was kept lower than the boiling point of ethanol at around $5^{\circ}C - 60^{\circ}C$. The apparatuswas kept running for 48 hours until transparent solvent is seen through the siphon arm. The liquid wasfiltered and some of it was stored in the refrigerator at 20 degrees while the rest was air dried to achievethe dry plant extract (Mahire & Patel et al., 2020).



Figure 5 Ethanolic extract of Dodonaea viscosa prepared using Soxhlet apparatus

3.2. Phytochemical Analysis of Dodonaea viscosa Extract

The standard protocols were used to screen the phytochemical components in the plant extract.

3.2.1. Qualitative Phytochemical Analysis

3.2.1.1. Saponin

0.5 ml of plant extract was added to 5 ml of hot distilled water. The solution was vigorously shaken because of which 1 cm layer of froth was formed over the surface.

3.2.1.2. Phenol

1 ml ferric chloride (1%) was added to 1ml of plant extract to give a blueish- greenish color.

3.2.1.3. Anthraquinones

2 ml of extract was added in a test tube, to which 2 ml of (2N) of hydrochloric acid and a few drops of ammonia were added. The turning of pinkish red to Bluish violet coloration is an indication of the presence of anthocyanins.

3.2.1.4. Flavonoids

1 ml of extract is added to 1 ml of (10%) lead acetate in a test tube. Yellow precipitates indicate the presence of flavonoids.

3.2.1.5. Anthocyanin

2 ml of extract was taken in a test tube, to which 2 ml of (2N) of hydrochloric acid and a few drops of ammonia were added. Pinkish red to bluish violet coloration indicates the presence of anthocyanins.

3.2.1.6. Leucoanthocyanin

5 ml of plant extract was added in the test tube followed by mixing with 5 ml of isoamyl alcohol. The organic layer turning red indicates the presence of leucoanthocyanin.

3.2.1.7. Tannis

To 2 ml of extract, 2 ml of 10% ferric chloride and 2 ml of water were added. The presence of tannis can be confirmed when color is changed from blue or green to black colour.

3.2.1.8. Coumarin

2 ml extract was taken in a test tube, to which 3 ml of (10%) sodium hydroxide was added. The indication of coumarin is the presence of yellow colour in the test tube.

3.2.1.9. Terpenoids

The addition of 2 ml of extract, 2 ml chloroform, and a few drops of concentrated sulphuric acid results in deep red colour confirming terpenoids' presence.

3.2.1.10. Triterpene

2ml of extract and a few drops of concentrated sulphuric acid were added into the reaction tube. It was then shaken and stand for few minutes. The yellow color lower layer formation of the solution confirmed the presence of diterpenes.

3.2.1.11. Steroids
The addition of 2 ml of extract, 2 ml chloroform and 2 ml concentrated concentrated sulphuric acid produces a reddish-brown colour at the interface indicating the steroid's presence.

3.2.1.12. Sterol

Add 1 ml of extract, and a few drops of concentrated sulphuric acid. The solution is shaken then let it stand. The indication of presence of sterols is red colour layer in the lower layer of the solution.

3.2.1.13. Emodin

2 ml of extract was taken in the tube followed by addition of 2 ml ammonium hydroxide and 3 ml of benzene. The red coloration indicates the presence of emodin.

3.2.1.14. Glycosides

In a test tube, 2 ml of extract, 2 ml of chloroform, and 2 ml of acetic acid were added. Violet/blue to green colouration in the solution proves the presence of glycosides.

3.2.1.15. Cardiac glycosides

To 5 ml of extract 2 ml glacial acetic acid was added followed by the mixing of 1 ml of and 1 ml concentrated sulphuric acid in it. The confirmation about presence of cardiac glycosides is the green blur colour or brown ring in the test tube.

3.2.1.16. Deoxysugar

In a test tube, 2 ml of extract, 2 ml of acetic acid, a few drops of ferric chloride and 1 ml concentrated sulphuric acid was added. The appearance of violet color below brown color confirms the presence of deoxysugar in the plant extract.

3.2.1.17. Alkaloids

Hager's test was performed to confirm the alkaloids presence. 2-3 drops of Hager's reagent were added in 2 ml of extract in a test tube. Yellow precipitates indicate the presence of alkaloids.

3.2.1.18. Protein

The Xanthoproteic test was performed to confirm presence of protein. 1 ml of extract and 1 ml concentrated sulphuric acid was added. When the solution was boiled the white precipitates turned yellow indicating the protein presence.

3.2.1.19. Resins

In a test tube, 2 ml of extract, 3 ml acetone, 3 ml hydrochloric acid was added. The test tube with the solution was heated for 30 minutes in a water bath. The pink color changes to red to indicate resins presence.

3.2.1.20. Reducing sugar

For reducing sugar, benedicts test was performed. A few drops of benedict's reagent were added to the 1 ml extract and the solution was heated using a water bath. The presence of reddish-brown precipitates shows positive results.

3.2.1.21. Amino acid

For alkaloids presence, Hager's test was performed. In a test tube, 2 ml of extract was taken followed by addition of 2-3 drops of Hager's reagent. The presence of alkaloids is confirmed by the appearance of yellow precipitates.

3.2.1.22. Carbohydrates

For screening the presence of carbohydrates, Fehling's test was used. Fehling's solution A and B were prepared ahead of performing the test. In 2 ml of plant extract, equal volumes of Fehling's solution A and B were added. The mixture was boiled for a few minutes and the presence of brick red precipitates indicates the presence of reducing sugars.

3.2.2. Quanitative Phytochemical Analysis

3.2.2.1 Total Phenolics Content (TPC) Determination

The determination of phenolic content was done using Folin Ciocalteu phenol (FC) reagent. 1% (1mg/ml) stock solution of gallic acid (Standard) in distilled water and 1 mg/ml of stock solution of plant extract was prepared. Multiple dilutions of gallic acid (standard) in different concentrations (10,30,50,70,90 μ g/ml) were prepared and vortexed. 5 ml Fc reagent was added and vortexed again. After 5 minutes, 5 ml of 20% solution of sodium carbonate was added. The incubation was done at 25°C for 25 minutes. The absorbance was measured at 760 nm against the blank. The calibration curve was plotted of gallic acid and TPC. The calculation was done by taking gallic acid equivalent (mg of gallic acid/g of extract) (Fernando & Soysa et al., 2014)

3.2.2.2 Total Flavonoids Content Determination

A stock solution of 1mg/ml of Rutin (Standard) and plant extract in methanol was prepared. Different dilutions of standard in different concentrations (10,30,50,70,90 μ g/ml) were prepared. Take 1 ml of sample, add 1 ml of aluminum chloride (10%), 1ml of 1M sodium acetate, and shake well. The mixture is incubated at RT for 45 minutes. The absorbance of the sample was measured at 415 nm. To identify the total flavonoid concentration, Rutin calibration curve was used. The obtained values were indicated as mg Rutin equivalents per gram of dry weight of the plant extract (mg/g) (Fattahi et al., 2014).

3.3 In-vitro Antioxidant Assays

3.3.1. DPPH (1, 1-diphenyl- 2-picrylhydrazyl) Assay

The scavenging capability of the plant extract is measured through this assay based on the free radical method. The decolorization of violet/purple ethanolic solution of DPPH to a yellow colour by spectrophotometric detection indicates the ability of the plant components to donate hydrogen. DPPH stock solution in ethanol 1:35 (1 mg in 35 ml ethanol) was prepared and kept on ice in the dark. Stock solutions of ascorbic acid as standard (1 mg in 1 ml of ethanol) in case of control and for test sample (1 mg of extract dissolved in 1ml of ethanol). Extract and ascorbic acid solutions were diluted in ethanolin multiple concentrations (30,90,150,210,270 µg/ml) with a gap of 20 µg/ml then 1 ml DPPH was added. This process was carried out in the dark as it is light sensitive. The solutions were incubated for1 hour at room temperature in the dark (Fattahi et al., 2014). Ethanol (3 ml) was taken as a blank and 3 ml ethanol & 1ml DPPH was taken as control. Absorbance was calculated at 517 nm. The percentageof inhibition was measured by using the following formula:

% inhibition = (control-sample/control) x 100

3.4 In-vitro Anti-Inflammatory Assays

3.4.1. Albumin Denaturation Inhibition Assay

This assay is used to evaluate the ability of an extract to prevent protein denaturation. Different dilutions of aspirin (in the case of standard) and ethanolic extract (0.1, 1,10, 100 μ g/ml) was prepared and added to the mixture. To 0.2 ml of 1% BSA, 2.8 ml of (0.2M) Phosphate buffer saline (PBS) was added. The mixture was put at 37 degrees using the water bath for 15 min, followed by its transfer to an incubator at 70 degrees for 5 min. Take out samples and let them cool at room temperature. Absorbance of the samples is calculated at 620 nm in a spectrophotometer (Gunathilake et al., 2018). Distilled water was taken control. The calculation of percentage inhibition of albumin denaturation was done using the formula:

% Inhibition of albumin denaturation = ([sample/control]-1) x 100

3.5 In-Vivo Anti-Inflammatory Assay

3.5.1. In-Vivo Acute Oral Toxicity (LD₅₀) Study

Approval of experiments on mice model was acquired from Institutional Review Board (IRB) with Performa number 32-IRB-ASAB-2016 at Atta-ur-Rahman School of Applied Biosciences, National University of Sciences and Technology, Pakistan.

This study was performed on BALB/c mice (age 5-6 weeks) to observe the toxic effect of crude *D.viscosa*. The protocol is carried out in three phases and each stage has 3 major groups with an equal

_

number of mice in every group (n=6). The parameters used for observation throughout the experiment include behavioral changes, physical signs of toxicity and mortalities for 24 hours before the start of next phase. The result of each stage determined the next stage. The mice were acclimatized for 2-3 days before starting the experiment (Zakari et al., 2018).

In phase I, 20 ml of three doses of 30 mg/kg, 300 mg/kg and 500 mg/kg were used. In phase II,1000 mg/kg, 2000 mg/kg, and 3000 mg/kg of doses were administered. In phase III, 5000 mg/kg of doseof plant extract was used, which is the limit dose as provided by the EPA/OECD and considered as high enough dose to test for acute toxicity. The formula used to prepare the doses was:

Extract volume = Weight of mice x Dose Stock concentration (expected therapeutic level of the plant)

3.6. In-Vivo Evaluation of Therapeutic Efficacy of Dodonaea

viscosa

3.6.1. Animal Procurement

Both genders of BALB/c mice of age 5-6 weeks were obtained from National Institute of Health (NIH) Islamabad, Pakistan. The Animal House of ASAB, NUST was used to keep the animals. The animals were subjected to acclimatization under normal conditions for a few days. The mice were provided with normal feed and tape water for a week. All experimental protocols to be followed on animals were under the criteria of the guidelines given by the National Institute of Health. The permission to carry out experimentation was permitted by Institutional Review Board, ASAB NUST.

3.6.2. Mice Grouping for Experimentation

Mice were divided into 4 groups with an equal number of mice in each group (n=6). The grouping of mice was as follows:

Group No.	Groups	Administration
1.	Normal	Standard feed
2.	Negative Control (Arthritis Induced)	Standard feed (no treatment)
3.	Positive Control (Arthritis Induced)	Commercial drug (leflunomide)
4.	Experimental/Treatment group (Arthritis Induced)	Dodonaea viscosa extract

Table 2 Mice experimental groups

3.6.3. Arthritic Mice Model Preparation

For preparation of Collagen-induced arthritic (CIA) models, Bovine Collagenase Type 2 and Freud's Complete adjuvant (FCA) were used. The immunization mixture is made up of Collagen type-Il mixed with glacial acetic acid (0.1 M) in a ratio of 2:1. To make glacial acetic acid (0.1 M) 0.89% Hartmann solution was mixed with it. The collagen type II solution was mixed with Freund's adjuvant (2 mg/ml) in the ratio of 1:1. The addition of FCA to the solution was done slowly then vortexed for 2 minutes until pure white in colour. The immunization mixture (200 μ l-100 μ l) was filled into the 1ml insulin syringes and was kept on ice. The first 2 injections were given intravenously in the tail while thelast injection was given in the sub-dermal region of paw of mice. The injections were given on day 0, day 7, and day 14. Moreover, on day 21, a booster injection was also given (0.1 ml/100 μ l) in the left paw of mice. The mice paws were assessed using non-invasive parameters including clinical arthritic score, volume of paws, ankle thickness via vernier calliper measurement to determine the intensity of inflammation as an indication of arthritic induction. All the mice were tagged, weighed and measurements of left hind pawwere taken with the help of a vernier calliper. The timeline of arthritis induction is as follows:

3.6.4. CIA Scoring of Mice Models

CIA

Mice paws were assessed for swelling and inflammation. The scoring was done based on the criteria on a scale of 0-4. The mice with a score of 3-4 were used for treatment studies. (Lin et al., 2020)



Figure 6 Schematic diagram of arthritic induction via CIA injection on day 0, 7, 14 and 21

CIII	ODGEDUATIONG		
SCORE	OBSERVATIONS		
0	Normal paw		
1	One or two swollen/inflamed toes with normal paw and ankle		

2	Three or more toes effected but no/mild
	paw swelling
3	Entire paw's swelling
4	Entire paw and toes swelling

Table 3 Clinical CIA impairment scoring table

3.6.5. Treatment with Plant Extract

The plant extract was provided to the experimental group; 900 mg/kg dissolved in tape water was given orally for 2 weeks. The concentration was selected based on the Acute Toxicity Test. While to the positive control group was given standard drug leflunomide (300 mg/kg) for 14 consecutive days.

3.6.6. Paw Size Measurements

The left hind paws were measured six times before injections for inductions, and before the beginning and after the completion of treatment. The size was calculated using vernier calliper of 0.05mm least count. The measurements were recorded in mm.

3.6.7. Collection of Blood, Liver, Spleen and Paw

After the completion of treatment, mice were sacrificed. Chloroform was given to anesthetize the mice before dissection. Blood was collected by cardiac puncture and was further utilized for clinical parameter like RF. Paw samples were collected for RNA extraction and X-rays. Spleen samples were collected for performing spleen indexing. Liver was collected for performing liver catalase test. The results of all four groups were compared to assess the therapeutic potential of the *Dodonaea viscosa*.

3.6.8. Spleen Indices

The spleen samples were collected from mice and weighed to calculate spleen indices. The following formula was used for measurement of spleen indices:

Spleen indices = weight of spleen in (mg)/ Total body weight of mice

3.6.9. Estimation of Rheumatoid Factor

Rheumatoid factor is the most popular diagnostic test of RA. After mice sacrifice, blood samples were centrifuged to obtain serum that was utilized for measuring RF levels. Normal range of RF is between 14-20 IU/ml.

3.6.10. Liver Catalase Assay

Catalase protects the cells from reactive oxygen species (ROS) produced due to oxidative stress. This oxidative enzyme present within the tissue produces water and oxygen because of degradation of hydrogen peroxide. The liver sample was converted into tissue homogenate using liquid nitrogen. The

crushed sample was added in 2.5 ml of cold PBS. The centrifugation of mixture was done, and the supernatant was collected. Further, the mixture was prepared by adding 1.0 ml of 0.01 M PBS and 0.4 ml of 2 M Hydrogen peroxide in tissue homogenate supernatant (0.1 ml). At the end, dichromate-acetic acid reagent (2 ml) was added into the mixture. The absorbance was measured three times (after a few seconds interval) at 620 nm. The blank was prepared in the same way except for the tissue homogenate (Kiziltunç et al., 2009). To calculate the catalase activity following formula was used:

$$CAT U/g = \underline{Absorbance of test sample} \times \underline{1}$$

$$Absorbance of control grams of tissue homogenate used$$

3.6.11. Radiological Evaluation

After dissection of mice, paw samples were collected for radiological evaluation. The examination was conducted based on the following factors i.e, soft tissue inflammation, joint structure destruction, spaces between joints and swollen joints.

3.6.12 Qualitative and Quantitative Analysis on CIA Model

3.6.12.1 Sandwich ELISA

For qualitative analysis, sandwich ELISA was performed to identify the IL-6 expression in different groups of CIA model. The procedure was performed on 96 well plates pre-coated with mouse IL-6 specific antibody. The protocol was followed as per manufacturer's instructions (Elabscience[®])

After mice dissection, EDTA blood tubes were used for blood collection. The blood was allowed to settle in the tube for 60 minutes at room temperature. To obtain the serum, centrifugation was done at 1000 x g for 20 minutes while maintaining the temperature at 2-8 $^{\circ}$ C. The supernatant was collected to proceed the assay. All the samples and standards were assayed in duplicates.

First, different concentrations of 100 μ l standard working solution were added in the first two columns. All the samples were added in duplicate. Incubationwas done for 90 minutes at 37 °C. After removing the liquid; 100 μ l of biotinylated detectionAb/Ag was added followed by 1 hour incubation at 37 °C. Washing of each well was performed using wash buffer (350 μ l). The washing step was repeated 3 times.100 μ l of Avidin-Horseradish Peroxidase (HRP) conjugate working solution was added followed by incubation for 30 minutes at 37 °C. The blue color in the wells indicates the presence of mouse IL-6. The washing was performed again 5 times. 90 μ l of substrate reagent was added to each well. Again, the plate incubation was stopped using stop solution (50 μ l). The OD was measured using preheated micro-plate reader at 450 nm. The OD value and Mouse IL-6 concentration has a direct proportional relation. The concentration of IL-6 can be calculated by comparing the sample OD values with the obtained standardcurve.

3.6.12.2. RNA Extraction from Tissue Samples

Mice paws samples were collected and stored at -80 °C after submerging them in liquid nitrogen. RNA extraction was carried out using a mice tissue sample of 0.2 mg. The sample was prepared using liquid nitrogen. 700 µl trizol was added to crushed tissue sample followed by 5 minutes incubation at room temperature (RT). 400 µl chloroform was added and 3 minutes incubation was done at RT. The centrifugation of homogenate was performed at 12,000 rpm at 4°C for 10 minutes to allow phase separation. An aqueous upper layer was added in the tube;to maintain the temperature, placed on ice. Pre-chilled isopronol was added in equal ratio of aqueous layer. The mixture was incubated on ice for 10 minutes. Later, the samples centrifugation was performed at 4°C for 10 minutes 12,000 rpm. The supernatant was discarded. The washing of the pellet was done 2 times using 1ml of 70 % ethanol at 7500 rpm for 5 minutes at 4°C followed by air drying of the pellet. To keep the RNA free from RNases, 40 µl of RNase free water or DEPC was added. Until further experimentation, the extracted RNA was stored at 80 °C. Nanodrop plate was used for RNA quantification (Skanit RE 4.1, Thermoscientific). The absorbance was calculated at 260, 280 and 320 nm.

3.6.12.3.cDNA Synthesis

After RNA extraction, RNA was converted to cDNA, viva cDNA synthesis kit (Vivantis). The mixing and centrifugation of reagents was performed briefly. RNA-primer mixture was prepared as follows:

Reagents	Stock	Working	Vol/reaction	Vol/n(12)
Keagents	Conc.	Conc.		
Total			71*	
RNA			7 μι.	
Primers	40 u M	4 u M	11	121
oligodT	40 µM	ο μινι - 4 μινι	Ιμι	12 μι
NF H ₂ O			2 µ1	24 µl
Final Volume			10 µl	

Table 4 RNA-primer mixture for cDNA synthesis

Where "n" is the number of reactions. The incubation was performed for 5 minutes at 65° C and chilled for 2 minutes on ice. Spinning of the mixture was done for a brief time. The cDNA Synthesis Mix was prepared as follows:

Doggonts	Stock	Working	Vol/reaction	Vol/n(12)
Keagents	Conc.	Conc.	v 01/1 eaction	V 01/11(12)
M-MuLV				
Reverse	5000U	100 U	1 µl	12 µl
Transcriptase				

M-MuLV buffer	10X	2X	4 µl	48 µ1
NF H ₂ 0			2 µl	24 µl
Ribolock			1 µl	12 µl
dNTPs			2 μ	24 µl
Final Volume			10 µ1	

Table 5 cDNA synthesis mix

Where "n" is the number of reactions. 10 μ l of cDNA Synthesis Mix was added to each RNA-primer mixture followed by centrifugation and incubation for 60 minutesat 42 °C. Lastly, the termination reaction was done by incubating the tubes at 85°C for 5 minutes. After that,ice was used to keep the tubes chilled and centrifuged briefly. The storage of synthesized cDNA was done at -20°C.

3.6.12.4. Real-Time PCR

For quantitative analysis, the synthesized cDNA was first used to optimize the PCR reaction. Firstly, four primer sets (IL6-F, IL6-R, GAPDH-F, GAPDH-R) were used for optimizing the annealing temperature (Ta). The primer sequences are as follows:

Primers	Primer Melting	Sequence
	Temperature (Tm)	
IL6-F	57.2 °C	5'TACCACTTCACAAGTCGGAGGC 3'
IL6-R	55.5 °C	5' CTGCAAGTGCATCATCGTTGTTC 3'
GAPDH-F	55.7 °C	5'-CAACTCCCTCAAGATTGTCAGCAA-3'
GAPDH-R	54.4 °C	5-'GGCATGGACTGTGGTCATGA-3'

 Table 6 Primer sequences for real-time PCR

The PCR reaction was performed on Galaxy XP Thermal Cycler (BIOER, PRC) to optimize PCR reaction conditions.

PCR Reagents	Stock Conc.	Working Conc.	Vol/Rec	Vol. x (26)
cDNA template	-	-	1 µl	r
P _F	10 µM	0.2 μΜ	0.2 µl	5.2µ1
P _R	10 µM	0.2 μΜ	0.2 μl	5.2µ1
dNTPs	10 mM	0.2 mM	0.2 µl	5.2µ1
Buffer	10X	1X	1 µl	26µ1
MgCl ₂	25 mM	2.5 mM	1 µl	26µ1
Taq Polymerase	5U/ μl	1.5 U	0.3 µ1	7.8µ1
PCR H ₂ O			6.1 µl	158.6µl
Final Volume			10	μl

Table 7 Optimised conditions for PCR reaction before performing real-time PCR

Where "n" is the number of reactions. In the case of GAPDH primer, after identifying melting temperature of primers, the gradient was run from 42 °C to 52 °C. The GAPDH primer with cDNA dilution of 1:10 was optimized at 48.1 °C. In the case of IL6, after identifying the Tm of primers, the first gradient was run from 50 °C to 60 °C. The IL-6 primer with cDNA dilution of 1:10 was optimized at 60 °C.

Mic PCR (Bio Molecular System) was used to perform Real-time polymerase chain reactions. The following table shows the optimized concentration used in the reaction:

PCR Reagents	Stock Conc.	Working Conc.	Vol/Rec	Vol. x (23)
cDNA template	-	1:10	1 µl	
P _F	10 µM	0.2 μΜ	0.2 µl	4.6 µl
P _R	10 µM	0.2 μΜ	0.2 µl	4.6 µl
Syber Green	2X	1X	5 µl	115 µl
PCR H ₂ O			3.6µ1	82.8 µl
Final Volume			10 µl	

Table 8 Concentrations were optimzed before performing real-time PCR reaction

Steps	Sub-cycles	Conditions	PCR cycles
Initial Denaturation		95 °C, 12 minutes	1
	Denaturation	95 °C, 15 seconds	
PCR Cycles	Primer annealing	, 20 seconds	40
	Primer extension	72 °C, 20 seconds	
Hold		95 °C, 15 seconds	

Table 9 Conditions were optimzed before performing real-time PCR reaction

The relative IL-6 gene expression analysis in different groups was further done using 2 (-Delta Delta C (T)) Method. Further, the cycling graph and melt curve graph was obtained for better result interpretation.

Chapter 4: Results

RESULTS

4.1 Plant Extract Preparation

The plant extract was prepared using absolute ethanol. A dark greenish extract was obtained using Soxhlet apparatus. The extract was poured into the Petri dish and was solidified through air drying. The dried extract was stored at 4 °C in a covered tube for further use in experiments.



Figure 7 Ethanolic D.viscosa extract prepared using Soxhlet apparatus

4.2. Phytochemical Analysis of the Plant Extract

4.2.1. Qualitative Analysis

The qualitative analysis of ethanolic plant extract was performed. The results were characterized by physical changes as per standard. Following is the list of the obtained results:

Test	Dodonaea viscosa	Appearance
Phenol	+	Blue black colour
Anthraquinone	-	Pink/red/violet color
Flavonoids	+	Colourless solution/ yellow precipitates
Anthocyanin	-	Pinkish red to bluish violet coloration
Leucoanthycyanin	-	Organic layer turns into red
Alkaloid	-	Yellow precipitates
Tannins	+	Transient Greenish to black coloration
Coumarins	+	Yellow color

Analyzing anti-rheumatic properties of novel medicinal flora (Dodonaea viscosa) through expression analysis 32

Terpenoids	+	Deep red colour
Steroids	+	Reddish brown color
Sterols	+	Red color at interface
Saponins	+	Formation of foam
Cardiac glycosides	+	Green/blue colour or brown ring
Glycosides	-	Violet to blue to green colouration
Deoxysugars	+	Formulation of brown ring
Proteins	-	White precipitate turned yellow on boiling
Resins	+	Pink color change to red
Reducing sugars	-	Reddish brown precipitation
Amino Acid	-	Violet color
Carbohydrates	+	Red precipitation
Emodin	-	Red coloration
Triterpene	-	Formation of yellow colored lower layer

Table 10 Phytochemical analysis of the plant extract in ethanol. + sign shows a positive

4.2.2. Quantitative Analysis

For qualitative analysis of phytochemicals, total phenolics and total flavonoids content was measured.

4.2.2.1 Total Phenolics Content

The Folin-Ciocalteu reagent was used for quantitative determination of the total phenolic content in terms of gallic acid equivalent. The total phenolic concentration is represented as mg gallic acid equivalent of per gram weight of dry extract. Linear regression was used to create the standard graph of gallic acid. The linear regression equation (y=0.0001x+0.0562) was used by putting the value of plant extract absorbance at "y" and calculating the value of "x". The formula used to calculate the concentration was:

 $C = x \cdot V/m$ ------ (equ. 1)

Where "V" is the volume and "m" is the mass of plant extract. A significant quantity of phenols was found in the ethanolic extract (29.88 mg GE/g of dry weight extract)



Figure 8 Graph for total phenolics content of Dodonea viscosa extract i.e. 29.88 mg GE/g of dry weight extract

4.2.2.2. Total Flavonoids Content

The aluminum chloride colorimetric assay was used for calculating total flavonoid content of ethanolic extract. The standard curve was obtained using Rutin. The results are expresses as mg Rutin equivalent per gram weight of dry extract. The Flavonoid Content was calculated from linear regression equation (y=0.0001x + 0.02). The formula used to calculate the concentration was:

 $C = x \cdot V/m$ ------ (equ. 1)

Where "V" is the volume and "m" is the mass of plant extract. Significant quantity of flavonoid was found in ethanolic extract of *Dodonaea viscosa* (54.33 mg RE/g of dry weight extract).



Figure 9 Graph for total flavonoid content of Dodonea viscosa extract i.e. 54.33 mg RE/g of dry weight extract

4.3 In-Vitro Antioxidant Assays

4.3.1 DPPH (1, 1-diphenyl- 2-picrylhydrazyl) assay

The results were obtained by determining the percentage inhibition and radical DPPH scavenging activity *D.v*iscosa extract was expressed as mg Ascorbic Acid equivalent per gram dry weight of plant extract. Ascorbic acid was taken as a standard. Standard graph was calculated using the linear regression to measure the DPPH scavenging activity. The results showed an increase in radical scavenging potential with the increase of concentration and comparable to the standard that showed that our plant has more antioxidant potential.

Standard: $R^2 = 0.9432$

Plant extract: $R^2 = 0.9738$



Figure 10 Graph shows increasing radical scavenging activity of Dodonaea viscosa with the increase in concentration

4.4. In-Vitro Anti-Inflammatory Assay

4.4.1 Albumin Denaturation Inhibition Assay

The results were obtained from this assay using the percentage inhibition formula. The Standard used in this assay was Aspirin. The results showed an increase in % inhibition with the increase in concentration. The values of plant extract were higher than that of standard showing the antiinflammatory potential of the plant extract.

Standard: $R^2 = 0.9901$

Plant extract: $R^2 = 0.8716$



Figure 11 Graph shows increasing plant extract ability to prevent protein denaturation with the increase in its concentration

4.5. Toxicological Assay

4.5.1. Acute Toxicity Analysis (LD₅₀)

The mice were calm throughout the experiment and showed an increase in weight with no mortality reported. The LD_{50} of the test substance has a high degree of safety as it is said to be greater than 5000 mg/kg.

PHASE NO.	DOSE CONCENTRATIONS	SIGNS OF TOXICITY	MORTALITIES
Phase 1	30, 300, 500 (mg/kg)	No	0
Phase 2	1000, 2000, 3000 (mg/kg)	No	0
Phase 3	5000 (mg/kg)	No	0

Table 11 Acute toxicity test suggested safe use of plant up to 5000 mg/kg

4.6. In-Vivo Evaluation of Therapeutic Efficacy of Dodonaea

viscosa

4.6.1. Arthritis Induction

Collagen Induced Arthritic (CIA) models were prepared to check the anti-arthritic property of plant extract. Arthritic induction was measured based on an increase in the paw sizes of the mice from day 0 to day 14. The normal and arthritic groups were compared for paw measurements that were taken in mm^2 . Moreover, CIA scoring was done. The mice with 3-4 CIA scoring were taken for further treatment. Increase in the paw sizes of arthritic and normal mice was observed with a P value of 0.0001 (significant). The graph shows an increase in Paw size in mm^2 over the course of arthritic induction compared to the healthy control group. Two-way ANOVA was applied, and the results are expressed as \pm SD.



Figure 12 Paw measurement in mm^2 of normal and arthritic mice with each injection administration. The graph shows an increase in paw size with each dose of injection. Two-way ANOVA was applied, and the results are expressed as \pm SD with P < 0.0001

4.6.2. Treatment with standard drug and plant extract

After the arthritic induction, mice were subjected to the treatment for 14 days. Paw measurements were taken before the treatment and during the treatment on day 0, day 7 and day 14. Negative control and normal groups showed no significant difference whereas there was a significant decrease in paw measurements in group 1, group 2, and positive control. The graph showed a decrease in Paw size in mm^2 over the course of treatment of Leflunomide/*D.visocsa* as compared to the arthritic group. The following are the mice groups subjected to different treatments. Two-way ANOVA was applied, and the results are expressed as ±SD.

Group No.	Groups	Administration	
1.	Normal	Standard feed	
2.	Negative Control (Arthritis Induced)	Standard feed (no treatment)	
3.	Positive Control (Arthritis Induced)	Commercial drug(leflunomide)	
4.	Experimental group (Arthritis Induced)	Dodonaea viscosa extract	

Table 12 Mice were divided into groups for treatment phase



Figure 13 Significant reduction in paw size over the course of treatment with the standard drug (leflunomide) and Dodonaea viscosa. Two-way ANOVA was applied. The results are expressed as \pm SD with **** : P < 0.001 & *** : $P \le 0.0003$

4.6.3. Spleen Indices

In an autoimmune disease, the spleen size increases. Spleen Indices were measured and compared between the mice groups (normal, arthritic, leflunomide and *Dodonaea viscosa*-treated groups) to see the effect of different treatments. The values of arthritic and normal groups indicated significant spleen enlargement. However, the treated groups showed values closer to normal group indicating a protective function. One-way ANOVA was applied, and the results are expressed as \pm SD with the P values as following *** P \leq 0.001, ** P \leq 0.0048, *P \leq 0.0126.



Figure 14 Comparison of spleen indices of 6 samples from each group showed significant results. The maximum spleen enlargement was observed in arthritic group. One-way ANOVA was performed. Results are reported as mean \pm SD with the P values as following *** $P \le 0.001$, ** $P \le 0.0048$, * $P \le 0.0126$

4.6.5. Rheumatoid Factor Score

In RA, the RF levels increase the normal levels causing the immune system further to cause further damage at the joint site. The normal levels of RF in human are around 0-14 IU/ml serum. A dramatic difference was revealed between the serum levels of normal and negative control groups. Moreover, the treated groups showed values are within the normal range suggesting the positive results of the plant extract and commercial drug (Leflunomide) in suppressing the release of RF in serum. One-way ANOVA was applied, and the results are expressed as \pm SD with the P values as following ***P \leq 0.001, **P \leq 0.0009.



Figure 15 Rheumatoid factor for control, arthritic & treatment groups. n=6 in each group. The most elevated levels of RF serum were observed in arthritic group. Statistical analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA. Results are reported as mean \pm SD with the P values as following *** $P \le 0.001$, ** $P \le 0.0009$

4.6.6. Liver Catalase Test

The antioxidant enzyme, catalase, protects the organs from oxidative stress due to production of ROS species. Liver tissues of arthritic mice, normal and treated mice were compared to assess the catalase activity. A significant difference was observed. The graph showed higher levels of catalase enzyme in arthritic mice. Whereas less ROS species were produced in the treated group indicating the therapeutic potential of the plant extract. One-way ANOVA was applied, and the results are expressed as \pm SD with the P values as following ***P \leq 0.001.



Figure 16 Catalase activity for control, arthritic & treated groups was observed. n=6 in each group. The most increased liver catalase activity was seen in arthritic group showing maximum ROS presence. Statistical analysis was performed using one-way ANOVA. Results are reported as mean \pm SD with the P values as following *** $P \le 0.001$

4.6.7. X-rays of Hind Paws

After the sacrifice of the mice their hind paws were taken for radiological evaluation, to see the therapeutic efficacy of the treatment phase. X-rays of right hind paws showed significant distance between the joints, inflammation in toes, bone erosion, bone destruction, and soft tissue inflammation. However, there was no soft tissue inflammation in the normal paws. The treatment groups showed less bone destruction and less swelling indicating the therapeutic effect of plant extract. The red arow shows bone destruction in toes, while the yellow arrow indicates soft tissue inflammation.



Figure 17 Images (a), (b), (c), (d) shows the radiological examination of normal, arthritic, leflunomide, and Dodonaea viscosa groups respectively. The red arow shows bone destruction in toes, while the yellow arrow indicates soft tissue inflammation.

4.6.8. Qualitative and Quantitative Analysis on CIA Model

4.6.8.1. Qualitative Analysis (Sandwich ELISA)

Serum Interleukin-6 concentrations were measured for control, arthritic and treated groups to establish possible correlation between IL-6 & the development and progression of arthritis. The results showed significantly lower levels of IL-6 in normal mice. However, enhanced production of IL-6 in serum was seen in arthritic mice. The treatment groups (leflunomide/*Dodonaea viscosa*) showed lower levels compared to arthritic group proving the drugs to be effective. The results were significant with P-value <0.001. Statistical analysis was performed using two-way ANOVA. The values were presented as mean \pm SD.



Figure 18 Enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay was used to evaluate IL-6 serum levels where n=6 in each group. The maximum relative IL-6 expression was seen in arthritic group. Statistical analysis was performed using two-way ANOVA. The values were presented as mean \pm SD with *** $P \le 0.001$

4.6.8.2. Quantitative Analysis (Real-Time PCR)

The mRNA levels of interleukin-6 in mice ankle joints were determined using real-time PCR to observe the therapeutic effect of *D.viscosa*. The expression of IL-6 gene relative to the expression of glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH; endogenous control) was quantified using 2 (-Delta Delta C (T)) Method. The results of the treatment groups showed significantly decreased IL-6 levels as compared to the arthritic group. Moreover, the arthritic group showed several folds higher expression of IL-6 mRNA as compared to the normal group. The values were presented as

Analyzing anti-rheumatic properties of novel medicinal flora (Dodonaea viscosa) through expression analysis 43

mean \pm standard error of the mean (n=6 samples per group) analyzed by ANOVA test with P-value <0.001.



Figure 19 IL-6 expression in ankle joints detected by Real-time PCR where n=6 in each group. The maximum relative IL-6 mRNA expression was seen in arthritic group indicating maximum IL-6 expression. Statistical analysis was performed using two-way ANOVA. The values are presented as mean \pm SD with the P value of *** P ≤ 0.001 , ** P ≤ 0.01

DISCUSSION

Rheumatoid Arthritis (RA) is an autoimmune disease that causes chronic inflammatory arthropathy. It is a syndrome associated with bone and cartilage damage leading to disability, pulmonary vasculitis, systemic complications along with increasing socioeconomic decline and mortalities (Murphy et al., 2008). Autoimmune diseases have no cure, and treatments should be taken for a lifetime to help reduce the progression of the disease. All the currently available pharmacological treatments improve the quality of life yet increase the chances of various systemic comorbidities such as cardiovascular, gastrointestinal diseases and others. Various studies identified medicinal plants as an excellent alternative for RA treatment. There is a paradigm shift towards ethnomedicines proven to be cost-effective and safe with fewer side effects. *Dodonaea viscosa* is traditionally used in various pathological conditions such as anti-inflammatory, analgesic, spasmolytic, antiviral, anti-microbial, laxative, rheumatism, hypotensive, gout, fractures, wound healing, haemorrhoids, and snake bites.

The goal of the study was to investigate the anti-rheumatic potential of the *Dodonaea viscosa* plant through in-vitro and in-vivo analysis. Firstly, the plant was subjected to qualitative phytochemical analysis that resulted in the identification of various bioactive compounds as described in the results. Our data is consistent with the other studies where the ethanolic extract of plant leaves showed the presence of similar compounds (AL-Oraimi & Hossain et al., 2016). Further, the quantitative phytochemical analysis i.e. total phenolic content (TPC) and total flavonoid content (TFC) was performed. The TPC and TFC of Dodonaea viscosa were 29.88 mg GE/g of dry weight extract & 54.33 mg RE/g of dry weight extract, respectively. These results confirmed and extended the data shown by other researchers (Riaz et al., 2012; AL-Oraimi & Hossain et al., 2016). The presence of phytochemicals owes to the effective use of the plant for various pathological conditions traditionally. A study performed by Nayeem et al. determined the antioxidant activity of the methanolic of the plant. In another study, Dodonaea viscosa crude extracts in different solvents were subjected to identify the redox properties using DPPH assay. The maximum antioxidant activity was shown by hexane and ethyl acetate extract along with the isolation of 2 flavanol and sterol compounds confirming the antioxidant potential of the plant leaves (Habsi & Hossain et al., 2019). Consistent with these observations, the DPPH assay results of our study also showed an increase in free radical scavenging ability as the extract concentration increased. Based on these findings, we can suggest Dodonaea viscosa as a good source of antioxidant compounds. In this study, albumin denaturation inhibition assay was also performed to evaluate the anti-inflammatory potential of the plant. The results showed an increased anti-inflammatory activity of the plant, as compared to the standard i.e., aspirin, with the increase in concentration of the extract. Another study performed by Muhammad et al tested the anti-inflammatory potential of a compound (Nebrodenside A) isolated from Dodonaea viscosa in carrageenan-induced mice. The plant was found to be highly active in reducing inflammation and pain as compared to the standard drug diclofenac

(Muhammad et al., 2019). These findings suggest a robust potential of the plant to be used as a medicinal drug for inflammatory diseases. In-vivo analysis of the extract was performed by constructing collageninduced (CIA) mice models. The protocol followed in the study induces chronic arthritis in mice that sustains the immunological response and stays erosive for around 60 days in comparison to the other experimental models (Boe et al., 1999a). The acute toxicity test was performed that proved the protective and safe nature of the plant as described earlier. The mice models were subjected to oral treatments of leflunomide (commercial drug) and Dodonaea viscosa to find their potential to treat RA. During arthritic induction and treatment, paw sizes were measured to assess the degree of inflammation. An appreciable increase in paw was observed in the arthritic group in comparison to the other groups. However, the treatment and positive control group exhibited reduced paw size than the arthritic group suggesting the plant to be a good therapeutic intervention. Many studies suggested the role of proinflammatory cytokines such as TNF, IL-1, and IL-6 in the aggravation of RA (Feldmann et al., 1996). This study also focuses on the qualitative and quantitative interleukin-6 expression analysis in all mice groups. For qualitative analysis, sandwich ELISA was performed to establish a possible correlation between IL-6 & arthritis. The kinetics of IL-6 in the serum were found to be parallel with the severity of symptoms in the arthritic group. However, reduced arthritic symptoms and IL-6 serum levels were observed in the treated groups. The quantitative analysis was also performed through real-time PCR to determine IL-6 mRNA expression. The arthritic group showed several folds higher expression of IL-6 as compared to the normal and treatment groups. The findings suggest IL-6 association in the development of the disease. This phenomenon correlates with another study on knocked-out IL-6 mice where the severity of arthritic symptoms was reduced in the absence of IL6 (Williams et al., 1992; Joosten et al., 1996). Another study corresponds to the results where enhanced IL-6 levels in synovial fluid and sera were observed in human RA patients. Thus, this study supports the notion of using serum IL-6 as a parameter to monitor disease progression (Takahisa Sugita et al., 1993). Based on these findings, we can also speculate that IL-6 induced arthritic development in CIA and that the suppressive effect of *Dodonaea viscosa* may be because of IL-6 signal transduction inhibition at some stage. Further studies could be performed to confirm this hypothesis. Taken together, this study indirectly suggests the use of Dodonaea visocsa as an IL-6 blockade to suppress IL-6 expression during the treatment of inflammatory arthritis. (Ohshima et al., 1998b) In addition, during the expression studies, the Dodonaea viscosa-treated group showed elevated IL-6 levels in comparison to the leflunomide-treated group. Based on these results, we can speculate that the dose and time (2 weeks) of the extract administration were not sufficient to suppress IL-6 and CIA development. The therapeutic efficacy was evaluated by clinical parameters, spleen indices, liver catalase activity rheumatoid factor, and paw x-rays for radiological evaluation of joints. The radiological examination of the arthritic paw revealed severe inflammation of soft tissues, bone erosion, and joint destruction as compared to the reduced symptoms in treated mice paws. There is evidence in support of the role of IL-6 in osteoclast formation that contributes to osteoclastic bone resorption. It is possible that the increased IL-6 levels might have

triggered IL-6-induced osteoclasts differentiation resulting in joint destruction in arthritic mice (Yokota et al., 2021). Moreover, the spleen indices were compared between different groups. The results showed a significant difference indicating spleen enlargement in the arthritic group. The data suggests that CIA induction and increased IL-6 levels might disturb systemic immunological responses in arthritic mice. Thus, the restored IL-6 levels in treatment groups also restored the spleen size. Further studies are required to understand the underlying mechanism (Boe et al., 1999b). Similarly, RF values were obtained in the normal range for the treated groups as compared to the arthritic group. It has been hypothesized that IL-6 triggers B-cell differentiation. It is reasonable that elevated IL-6 levels induce B cell hyperactivation in RA that might result in the over-production of autoantibodies such as rheumatoid factor (Boe et al., 1999b). It can also be speculated that the extract might be capable of influencing lymphocyte differentiation during cell-mediated responses in the treatment group. Recently, Tong et al. demonstrated the antioxidant effects of Dodonaea viscosa against carbon tetrachloride oxidative damage in the liver, spleen, and kidney (Z. W. Tong et al., 2021). In the present study, the liver catalase test showed excessive ROS production in the arthritic group as compared to the treated groups. No observable morphological changes were seen in either treated groups supporting the previous study. Thus, the results are relevance signifying the protective use of Dodonaea viscosa against liver toxicity (Z. W. Tong et al., 2021).

CONCLUSION AND FUTURE PERSPECTS

In conclusion, the ethanolic extract of *Dodonaea viscosa* showed presence of multiple phytochemical compounds. The extract possesses antioxidant and anti-inflammatory potential. Moreover, Dodonaea viscosa extract was safe up to concentrations of about 5000mg/kg suggested through LD₅₀ analysis. The study suggests the use of *D.viscosa* to suppress IL-6 expression during RA treatment.

However, further studies are required to understand the value of the plant as a potential for RA treatment. Further in-vivo studies are required on larger sample size to validate these results. In-silico analysis must be performed to pinpoint the bioactive compounds involved in RA treatment.

REFERENCES

Abbas Naqvi, A., Hassali, M. A., Tariq Aftab, M., Baqir, S., Naqvi, S., Zehra, F., Ahmad, R., & Ahmad, N. (2017). Development of Evidence-Based Disease Education Literature for Pakistani Rheumatoid Arthritis Patients. *Diseases 2017, Vol. 5, Page 27, 5*(4), 27. https://doi.org/10.3390/DISEASES5040027

Abdela, J. (2019). Evaluation of In Vivo Antidiarrheal Activities of Hydroalcoholic Leaf Extract of Dodonaea viscosa L.(Sapindaceae)in Swiss Albino Mice. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1177/2515690X19891952, 24.* https://doi.org/10.1177/2515690X19891952

Aggarwal, R., Ringold, S., Khanna, D., Neogi, T., Johnson, S. R., Miller, A., Brunner, H. I., Ogawa, R., Felson, D., Ogdie, A., Aletaha, D., & Feldman, B. M. (2015). Distinctions Between Diagnostic and Classification Criteria? *Arthritis Care & Research*, 67(7), 891–897. https://doi.org/10.1002/ACR.22583

Ahmad Khaira, R., Tahir, A., & Nadeem, F. (2018). Historical origin, chemical constituents and therapeutic potentials of sanatha (Dodonaea viscose)-A brief review. *IJCBS*, *14*, 48. www.iscientific.org/Journal.html

Aho, K., Koskenvuo, M., Tuominen, J., & Kaprio, J. (1986). Occurrence of rheumatoid arthritis in a nationwide series of twins. *Journal of Rheumatology*, *13*(5), 899–902.

Akram, M. S., Pery, N., Butler, L., Shafiq, M. I., Batool, N., Rehman, M. F. ur, Grahame-Dunn, L. G., & Yetisen, A. K. (2021). Challenges for biosimilars: focus on rheumatoid arthritis. *Critical Reviews in Biotechnology*, *41*(1), 121–153. https://doi.org/10.1080/07388551.2020.1830746

Alam, J., Jantan, I., & Bukhari, S. N. A. (2017). Rheumatoid arthritis: Recent advances on its etiology,role of cytokines and pharmacotherapy. *Biomedicine & Pharmacotherapy = Biomedecine & Pharmacotherapie*, *92*, 615–633. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BIOPHA.2017.05.055

Alam, S. M., Kidwai, A. A., Jafri, S. R., Qureshi, B. M., Sami, A., Qureshi, H. H., & Mirza, H. (2011). Epidemiology of Rheumatoid Arthritis in a tertiary care unit, Karachi, Pakistan. *Journal of the Pakistan Medical Association*, *61*(2), 123–126.

Alamanos, Y., & Drosos, A. A. (2005). Epidemiology of adult rheumatoid arthritis. *Autoimmunity Reviews*, 4(3), 130–136. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AUTREV.2004.09.002

Aletaha, D., Neogi, T., Silman, A. J., Funovits, J., Felson, D. T., Bingham, C. O., Birnbaum, N. S., Burmester, G. R., Bykerk, V. P., Cohen, M. D., Combe, B., Costenbader, K. H., Dougados, M., Emery, P., Ferraccioli, G., Hazes, J. M. W., Hobbs, K., Huizinga, T. W. J., Kavanaugh, A., ... Hawker, G. (2010a). 2010 Rheumatoid arthritis classification criteria: an American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism collaborative initiative. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, *69*(9), 1580–1588. https://doi.org/10.1136/ARD.2010.138461

Aletaha, D., Neogi, T., Silman, A. J., Funovits, J., Felson, D. T., Bingham, C. O., Birnbaum, N. S., Burmester, G. R., Bykerk, V. P., Cohen, M. D., Combe, B., Costenbader, K. H., Dougados, M., Emery, P., Ferraccioli, G., Hazes, J. M. W., Hobbs, K., Huizinga, T. W. J., Kavanaugh, A., ... Hawker, G. (2010b). 2010 Rheumatoid arthritis classification criteria: an American College of Rheumatology/European League Against Rheumatism collaborative initiative. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, *69*(9), 1580–1588. https://doi.org/10.1136/ARD.2010.138461

Aletaha, D., & Smolen, J. S. (2018b). Diagnosis and Management of Rheumatoid Arthritis: A Review. *JAMA*, *320*(13), 1360–1372. https://doi.org/10.1001/JAMA.2018.13103

Almutairi, K., Nossent, J., Preen, D., Keen, H., & Inderjeeth, C. (2021). The global prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis: a meta-analysis based on a systematic review. *Rheumatology International*, *41*(5), 863–877. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00296-020-04731-0

AL-Oraimi, A. A., & Hossain, M. A. (2016). In Vitro Total Flavonoids Content and Antimicrobial Capacity of Different Organic Crude Extracts of Dodonaea viscosa. *Http://Dx.Doi.Org/10.1080/22311866.2016.1188725*, 6(2), 150–165. https://doi.org/10.1080/22311866.2016.1188725

Alpízar-Rodríguez, D., & Finckh, A. (2017). Environmental factors and hormones in the developmentof rheumatoid arthritis. *Seminars in Immunopathology 2017 39:4*, *39*(4), 461–468. https://doi.org/10.1007/S00281-017-0624-2

Amjad, M. S., Qaeem, M. F., Ahmad, I., Khan, S. U., Chaudhari, S. K., Malik, N. Z., Shaheen, H., & Khan, A. M. (2017). Descriptive study of plant resources in the context of the ethnomedicinal relevance of indigenous flora: A case study from Toli Peer National Park, Azad Jammu and Kashmir, Pakistan. *PLoS ONE*, *12*(2). https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0171896

Badsha, H. (2018). Role of Diet in Influencing Rheumatoid Arthritis Disease Activity. *The Open Rheumatology Journal*, *12*(1), 19–28. https://doi.org/10.2174/1874312901812010019

Banda, N. K., Kraus, D., Vondracek, A., Huynh, L. H., Bendele, A., Holers, V. M., & Arend, W. P. (2002). Mechanisms of effects of complement inhibition in murine collagen-induced arthritis. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, *46*(11), 3065–3075. https://doi.org/10.1002/art.10591

Bason, C., Barbieri, A., Martinelli, N., Olivieri, B., Argentino, G., Bartoloni, E., Beri, R., Jadav, G., Puccetti, A., Tinazzi, E., & Lunardi, C. (2021). Identification of a Novel Serological Marker in Seronegative Rheumatoid Arthritis Using the Peptide Library Approach. *Frontiers in Immunology*, *12*, 4113. https://doi.org/10.3389/FIMMU.2021.753400/BIBTEX

Benito-Garcia, E., Feskanich, D., Hu, F. B., Mandl, L. A., & Karlson, E. W. (2007). Protein, iron, and meat consumption and risk for rheumatoid arthritis: A prospective cohort study. *Arthritis Researchand Therapy*, *9*(1), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/AR2123/TABLES/3

Beshah, F., Hunde, Y., Getachew, M., Bachheti, R. K., Husen, A., & Bachheti, A. (2020). Ethnopharmacological, phytochemistry and other potential applications of Dodonaea genus: A comprehensive review. *Current Research in Biotechnology*, *2*, 103–119. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CRBIOT.2020.09.002

Bettelli, E., Carrier, Y., Gao, W., Korn, T., Strom, T. B., Oukka, M., Weiner, H. L., & Kuchroo, V. K. (2006). Reciprocal developmental pathways for the generation of pathogenic effector TH17 and regulatory T cells. *Nature*, *441*(7090), 235–238. https://doi.org/10.1038/NATURE04753

Bryant R England, T. R. (n.d.). Epidemiology of, risk factors for, and possible causes of rheumatoid arthritis. *UpToDate*.

Bullock, J., Rizvi, S. A. A., Saleh, A. M., Ahmed, S. S., Do, D. P., Ansari, R. A., & Ahmed, J. (2018). Rheumatoid Arthritis: A Brief Overview of the Treatment. *Medical Principles and Practice : International Journal of the Kuwait University, Health Science Centre*, 27(6), 501–507. https://doi.org/10.1159/000493390

Buttgereit, F., Saag, K. G., Cutolo, M., Da Silva, J. A. P., & Bijlsma, J. W. J. (2005). The molecular basis for the effectiveness, toxicity, and resistance to glucocorticoids: focus on the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. *Scandinavian Journal of Rheumatology*, *34*(1), 14–21. https://doi.org/10.1080/03009740510017706

Analyzing anti-rheumatic properties of novel medicinal flora (Dodonaea viscosa) through expression analysis

Cha, S., Choi, C. B., Han, T. U., Kang, C. P., Kang, C., & Bae, S. C. (2007). Association of anticycliccitrullinated peptide antibody levels with PADI4 haplotypes in early rheumatoid arthritis and withshared epitope alleles in very late rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 56(5), 1454–1463. https://doi.org/10.1002/ART.22570

Chaudhari, K., Rizvi, S., & Syed, B. A. (2016). Rheumatoid arthritis: current and future trends. *NatureReviews. Drug Discovery*, *15*(5), 305–306. https://doi.org/10.1038/NRD.2016.21

Chihara, N., Aranami, T., Sato, W., Miyazaki, Y., Miyake, S., Okamoto, T., Ogawa, M., Toda, T., & Yamamura, T. (2011). Interleukin 6 signaling promotes anti-aquaporin 4 autoantibody productionfrom plasmablasts in neuromyelitis optica. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 108(9), 3701–3706. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.1017385108

Choi, S. T., & Lee, K. H. (2018). Clinical management of seronegative and seropositive rheumatoid arthritis: A comparative study. *PloS One*, *13*(4). https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0195550

Choy, E. (2012a). Understanding the dynamics: pathways involved in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology*, *51*(suppl_5), v3–v11. https://doi.org/10.1093/RHEUMATOLOGY/KES113

Colquhoun, M., Gulati, M., Farah, Z., & Mouyis, M. (2022b). Clinical features of rheumatoid arthritis. *Medicine (United Kingdom)*, 50(3), 138–142. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MPMED.2021.12.002

Crofford, L. J. (2013). Use of NSAIDs in treating patients with arthritis. *Arthritis Research & Therapy*,15 Suppl 3(Suppl 3). https://doi.org/10.1186/AR4174

Cross, M., Smith, E., Hoy, D., Carmona, L., Wolfe, F., Vos, T., Williams, B., Gabriel, S., Lassere, M., Johns, N., Buchbinder, R., Woolf, A., & March, L. (2014). The global burden of rheumatoid arthritis: estimates from the Global Burden of Disease 2010 study. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, *73*(7), 1316–1322. https://doi.org/10.1136/ANNRHEUMDIS-2013-204627

Crowson, C. S., Matteson, E. L., Myasoedova, E., Michet, C. J., Ernste, F. C., Warrington, K. J., Davis, J. M., Hunder, G. G., Therneau, T. M., & Gabriel, S. E. (2011). The lifetime risk of adultonset rheumatoid arthritis and other inflammatory autoimmune rheumatic diseases. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, *63*(3), 633–639. https://doi.org/10.1002/ART.30155

Damsky, W., & King, B. A. (2017). JAK inhibitors in dermatology: The promise of a new drug class. *Journal of the American Academy of Dermatology*, 76(4), 736–744. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAAD.2016.12.005

De Jonge, E., Friederich, P. W., Vlasuk, G. P., Rote, W. E., Vroom, M. B., Levi, M., & Van der Poll, T. (2003). Activation of coagulation by administration of recombinant factor VIIa elicits interleukin 6 (IL-6) and IL-8 release in healthy human subjects. *Clinical and Diagnostic Laboratory Immunology*, *10*(3), 495–497. https://doi.org/10.1128/CDLI.10.3.495-497.2003

De Stefano, L., D'Onofrio, B., Manzo, A., Montecucco, C., & Bugatti, S. (2021). The Genetic, Environmental, and Immunopathological Complexity of Autoantibody-Negative Rheumatoid Arthritis. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(22). https://doi.org/10.3390/IJMS222212386

Deane, K. D., Demoruelle, M. K., Kelmenson, L. B., Kuhn, K. A., Norris, J. M., & Holers, V. M. (2017).Genetic and environmental risk factors for rheumatoid arthritis. *Best Practice & Research ClinicalRheumatology*, *31*(1), 3–18. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.BERH.2017.08.003

Analyzing anti-rheumatic properties of novel medicinal flora (Dodonaea viscosa) through expression analysis

Dörner, T., & Burmester, G. R. (2003). The role of B cells in rheumatoid arthritis: mechanisms and therapeutic targets. *Current Opinion in Rheumatology*, *15*(3), 246–252. https://doi.org/10.1097/00002281-200305000-00011

Dougados, M., Soubrier, M., Antunez, A., Balint, P., Balsa, A., Buch, M. H., Casado, G., Detert, J., El-Zorkany, B., Emery, P., Hajjaj-Hassouni, N., Harigai, M., Luo, S. F., Kurucz, R., Maciel, G., Mola, E. M., Montecucco, C. M., McInnes, I., Radner, H., ... Kay, J. (2014). Prevalence of comorbidities in rheumatoid arthritis and evaluation of their monitoring: Results of an international, cross- sectional study (COMORA). *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 73(1), 62–68. https://doi.org/10.1136/ANNRHEUMDIS-2013-204223/-/DC1

Ehrenstein, M. R., Evans, J. G., Singh, A., Moore, S., Warnes, G., Isenberg, D. A., & Mauri, C. (2004).Compromised Function of Regulatory T Cells in Rheumatoid Arthritis and Reversal by Anti-TNFα Therapy. *Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 200(3), 277–285. https://doi.org/10.1084/JEM.20040165

Faragó, B., Magyari, L., Sáfrány, E., Csöngei, V., Járomi, L., Horvatovich, K., Sipeky, C., Maász, A., Radics, J., Gyetvai, Á., Szekanecz, Z., Czirják, L., & Melegh, B. (2008). Functional variants of interleukin-23 receptor gene confer risk for rheumatoid arthritis but not for systemic sclerosis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 67(2), 248–250. https://doi.org/10.1136/ARD.2007.072819

Fattahi, S., Zabihi, E., Abedian, Z., Pourbagher, R., Ardekani, A. M., Mostafazadeh, A., & Akhavan-Niaki, H. (2014). Total Phenolic and Flavonoid Contents of Aqueous Extract of Stinging Nettle and In Vitro Antiproliferative Effect on Hela and BT-474 Cell Lines. *International Journal of Molecular and Cellular Medicine*.

Feldmann, M., Brennan, F. M., & Maini, R. N. (1996). Role of cytokines in rheumatoid arthritis.AnnualReviewofImmunology,14,397–440.https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.IMMUNOL.14.1.397

Fernando, C. D. ilanka, & Soysa, P. (2014). Total phenolic, flavonoid contents, in-vitro antioxidant activities and hepatoprotective effect of aqueous leaf extract of Atalantia ceylanica. *BMC Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, *14*, 395. https://doi.org/10.1186/1472-6882-14-395

Ferreira, J. F., Ahmed Mohamed, A. A., & Emery, P. (2016). Glucocorticoids and Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Rheumatic Diseases Clinics of North America*, 42(1), 33–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.RDC.2015.08.006

Fries, J. F. (2000). Current treatment paradigms in rheumatoid arthritis. *Rheumatology*, 39(suppl_1), 30–35.

https://doi.org/10.1093/OXFORDJOURNALS.RHEUMATOLOGY.A031492

Ghisalberti, E. L. (1998). Biological and pharmacological activity of naturally occurring iridoids and secoiridoids. *Phytomedicine : International Journal of Phytotherapy and Phytopharmacology*, 5(2), 147–163. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0944-7113(98)80012-3

Giannini, D., Antonucci, M., Petrelli, F., Bilia, S., Alunno, A., & Puxeddu, I. (2020). One year in review 2020: Pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. *Clinical and Experimental Rheumatology*, *38*(3), 387–397. https://doi.org/10.55563/clinexprheumatol/3uj1ng

Goëb, V., Dieudé, P., Daveau, R., Thomas-L'Otellier, M., Jouen, F., Hau, F., Boumier, P., Tron, F., Gilbert, D., Fardellone, P., Cornélis, F., Le Loët, X., & Vittecoq, O. (2008). Contribution of PTPN22 1858T, TNFRII 196R and HLA-shared epitope alleles with rheumatoid factor and anticitrullinated protein antibodies to very early rheumatoid arthritis diagnosis. *Rheumatology*, *47*(8), 1208–1212. https://doi.org/10.1093/RHEUMATOLOGY/KEN192

Analyzing anti-rheumatic properties of novel medicinal flora (Dodonaea viscosa) through expression analysis

Goodnow, C. C., Sprent, J., Barbara, B. F., & Vinuesa, C. G. (2005). Cellular and genetic mechanisms of self tolerance and autoimmunity. *Nature 2005 435:7042*, *435*(7042), 590–597. https://doi.org/10.1038/nature03724

Goulielmos, G. N., Zervou, M. I., Myrthianou, E., Burska, A., Niewold, T. B., & Ponchel, F. (2016). Genetic data: The new challenge of personalized medicine, insights for rheumatoid arthritis patients. *Gene*, 583(2), 90–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GENE.2016.02.004

Gregersen, P. K., Silver, J., & Winchester, R. J. (1987). The shared epitope hypothesis. An approach tounderstanding the molecular genetics of susceptibility to rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, *30*(11), 1205–1213. https://doi.org/10.1002/ART.1780301102

Grijalva, C. G., Chung, C. P., Arbogast, P. G., Stein, C. M., Mitchel, E. F., & Griffin, M. R. (2007). Assessment of adherence to and persistence on disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs (DMARDs) in patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Medical Care*, 45(10 Supl 2). https://doi.org/10.1097/MLR.0B013E318041384C

Gunathilake, K. D. P. P., Ranaweera, K. K. D. S., & Rupasinghe, H. P. V. (2018). In Vitro Anti-Inflammatory Properties of Selected Green Leafy Vegetables. *Biomedicines 2018, Vol. 6, Page 107, 6*(4), 107. https://doi.org/10.3390/BIOMEDICINES6040107

Hetland, M. L., Christensen, I. J., Tarp, U., Dreyer, L., Hansen, A., Hansen, I. T., Kollerup, G., Linde, L., Lindegaard, H. M., Poulsen, U. E., Schlemmer, A., Jensen, D. V., Jensen, S., Hostenkamp, G.,& Østergaard, M. (2010). Direct comparison of treatment responses, remission rates, and drug adherence in patients with rheumatoid arthritis treated with adalimumab, etanercept, or infliximab:Results from eight years of surveillance of clinical practice in the nationwide Danish DANBIO registry. *Arthritis & Rheumatism*, 62(1), 22–32. https://doi.org/10.1002/ART.27227

Hirano, T., Matsuda, T., Turner, M., Miyasaka, N., Buchan, G., Tang, B., Sato, K., Shimi, M., Maid, R., Feldmann, M., & Kishimoto, T. (1988). Excessive production of interleukin 6/B cell stimulatory factor-2 in rheumatoid arthritis. *European Journal of Immunology*, *18*(11), 1797–1802. https://doi.org/10.1002/EJI.1830181122

Hochberg, M. C., Johnston, S. S., & John, A. K. (2008). The incidence and prevalence of extraarticularand systemic manifestations in a cohort of newly-diagnosed patients with rheumatoid arthritis between 1999 and 2006. *Https://Doi.Org/10.1185/030079908X261177*, 24(2), 469–480.

https://doi.org/10.1185/030079908X261177

Houssiau, F. A., Devogelaer, J. -P, Damme, J. Van, Deuxchaisnes, C. N. De, & Snick, J. Van. (1988). Interleukin-6 in synovial fluid and serum of patients with rheumatoid arthritis and other inflammatory arthritides. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, *31*(6), 784–788. https://doi.org/10.1002/ART.1780310614

Humby, F., Bombardieri, M., Manzo, A., Kelly, S., Blades, M. C., Kirkham, B., Spencer, J., & Pitzalis. C. (2009). Ectopic lymphoid structures support ongoing production of class-switched autoantibodies in rheumatoid synovium. *PLoS Medicine*, *6*(1), 0059–0075. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PMED.0060001

Hurst, S. M., Wilkinson, T. S., McLoughlin, R. M., Jones, S., Horiuchi, S., Yamamoto, N., Rose-John, S., Fuller, G. M., Topley, N., & Jones, S. A. (2001). II-6 and its soluble receptor orchestrate a temporal switch in the pattern of leukocyte recruitment seen during acute inflammation. *Immunity*, *14*(6), 705–714. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1074-7613(01)00151-0

Analyzing anti-rheumatic properties of novel medicinal flora (Dodonaea viscosa) through expression analysis

Jones, G. W., & Jones, S. A. (2016). Ectopic lymphoid follicles: inducible centres for generating antigen-specific immune responses within tissues. *Immunology*, *147*(2), 141–151. https://doi.org/10.1111/IMM.12554

Joosten, L. A. B., Helsen, M. M. A., Van De Loo, F. A. J., & Van Den Berg, W. B. (1996). Anticytokine treatment of established type II collagen-induced arthritis in DBA/1 mice. A comparative study using anti-TNF alpha, anti-IL-1 alpha/beta, and IL-1Ra. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, *39*(5), 797–809. https://doi.org/10.1002/ART.1780390513

Kaplanski, G., Marin, V., Montero-Julian, F., Mantovani, A., & Farnarier, C. (2003a). IL-6: A regulatorof the transition from neutrophil to monocyte recruitment during inflammation. *Trends in Immunology*, 24(1), 25–29. https://doi.org/10.1016/S1471-4906(02)00013-3

Karami, J., Aslani, S., Jamshidi, A., Garshasbi, M., & Mahmoudi, M. (2019a). Genetic implications in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis; an updated review. *Gene*, 702, 8–16. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GENE.2019.03.033

Kawai, T., & Akira, S. (2010). The role of pattern-recognition receptors in innate immunity: update onToll-like receptors. *Nature Immunology*, *11*(5), 373–384. https://doi.org/10.1038/NI.1863

Kerkman, P. F., Fabre, E., Van Der Voort, E. I. H., Zaldumbide, A., Rombouts, Y., Rispens, T., Wolbink, G., Hoeben, R. C., Spits, H., Baeten, D. L. P., Huizinga, T. W. J., Toes, R. E. M., & Scherer, H. U. (2016). Identification and characterisation of citrullinated antigen-specific B cells in peripheral blood of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, *75*(6), 1170–1176.https://doi.org/10.1136/ANNRHEUMDIS-2014-207182

Khan, K., Rasool, S., Khan, K., Badshah, S. L., Ahmad, N., Jan, M. T., Hizbullah, S. M., Khan, I., Ullah, A., & Muhammad, A. (2019). Computational evaluation and anti-inflammatory and analgesic activities of nebrodenside a isolated from dodonaea viscosa. *Natural Product Communications*,

14(5).https://doi.org/10.1177/1934578X19848157/ASSET/IMAGES/LARGE/10.1177_1934578 X198 48157-FIG3.JPEG

Kharlamova, N., Jiang, X., Sherina, N., Potempa, B., Israelsson, L., Quirke, A. M., Eriksson, K., Yucel- Lindberg, T., Venables, P. J., Potempa, J., Alfredsson, L., & Lundberg, K. (2016). Antibodies to Porphyromonas gingivalis Indicate Interaction between Oral Infection, Smoking, and Risk Genesin Rheumatoid Arthritis Etiology. *Arthritis and Rheumatology*, *68*(3), 604–613. https://doi.org/10.1002/ART.39491

Kiely, P. D., & Nikiphorou, E. (2018). Management of rheumatoid arthritis. *Medicine*, 46(4), 216–221.https://doi.org/10.1016/J.MPMED.2018.01.006

Kimura, A., & Kishimoto, T. (2010). IL-6: regulator of Treg/Th17 balance. *European Journal of Immunology*, 40(7), 1830–1835. https://doi.org/10.1002/EJI.201040391

Kishimoto, T. (2005). Interleukin-6: from basic science to medicine--40 years in immunology. *AnnualReview of Immunology*, 23, 1–21. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV.IMMUNOL.23.021704.115806

Kiziltunç, A., Çoğalgil, Ş., & Cerrahoğlu, L. (2009). Carnitine and Antioxidants Levels in Patients with Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Http://Dx.Doi.Org/10.1080/030097498442271*, 27(6), 441–445. https://doi.org/10.1080/030097498442271

Koga, T., Okada, A., Fukuda, T., Hidaka, T., Ishii, T., Ueki, Y., Kodera, T., Nakashima, M., Takahashi, Y., Honda, S., Horai, Y., Watanabe, R., Okuno, H., Aramaki, T., Izumiyama, T., Takai, O., Miyashita, T., Sato, S., Kawashiri, S. Y., ... Ogura, K. (2017). Anti-citrullinated peptide

antibodiesare the strongest predictor of clinically relevant radiographic progression in rheumatoid arthritis patients achieving remission or low disease activity: A post hoc analysis of a nationwide cohort inJapan. *PLOS ONE*, *12*(5), e0175281. https://doi.org/10.1371/JOURNAL.PONE.0175281

Kotyla, P. J. (2018). Are Janus Kinase Inhibitors Superior over Classic Biologic Agents in RA Patients? *BioMed Research International*, 2018. https://doi.org/10.1155/2018/7492904

Kudo, O., Sabokbar, A., Pocock, A., Itonaga, I., Fujikawa, Y., & Athanasou, N. A. (2003). Interleukin-6 and interleukin-11 support human osteoclast formation by a RANKL-independent mechanism. *Bone*, *32*(1), 1–7. https://doi.org/10.1016/S8756-3282(02)00915-8

Lee, H. S., Irigoyen, P., Kern, M., Lee, A., Batliwalla, F., Khalili, H., Wolfe, F., Lum, R. F., Massarotti, E., Weisman, M., Bombardier, C., Karlson, E. W., Criswell, L. A., Vlietinck, R., & Gregersen, P.

K. (2007). Interaction between smoking, the shared epitope, and anti-cyclic citrullinated peptide: A mixed picture in three large North American rheumatoid arthritis cohorts. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, *56*(6), 1745–1753. https://doi.org/10.1002/ART.22703

Lin, Y. J., Anzaghe, M., & Schülke, S. (2020a). Update on the Pathomechanism, Diagnosis, and Treatment Options for Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Cells*, *9*(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/CELLS9040880

Lin, Y. J., Anzaghe, M., & Schülke, S. (2020b). Update on the Pathomechanism, Diagnosis, and Treatment Options for Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Cells*, *9*(4). https://doi.org/10.3390/CELLS9040880

Linos, A., Kaklamanis, E., Kontomerkos, A., Koumantaki, Y., Gazi, S., Vaiopoulos, G., Tsokos, G. C.,& Kaklamanis, P. (2009). The Effect of Olive Oil and Fish Consumption on Rheumatoid Arthritis

A Case Control Study. *Https://Doi.Org/10.3109/03009749109096821*, 20(6), 419–426. https://doi.org/10.3109/03009749109096821

Littlejohn, E. A., & Monrad, S. U. (2018). Early Diagnosis and Treatment of Rheumatoid Arthritis. *Primary Care*, 45(2), 237–255. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.POP.2018.02.010

Liu, D., Ahmet, A., Ward, L., Krishnamoorthy, P., Mandelcorn, E. D., Leigh, R., Brown, J. P., Cohen, A., & Kim, H. (2013). A practical guide to the monitoring and management of the complications of systemic corticosteroid therapy. *Allergy, Asthma, and Clinical Immunology: Official Journal of the Canadian Society of Allergy and Clinical Immunology,* 9(1). https://doi.org/10.1186/1710-1492-9-30

Luckheeram, R. V., Zhou, R., Verma, A. D., & Xia, B. (2012). CD4 +T cells: Differentiation and functions. *Clinical and Developmental Immunology*, 2012. https://doi.org/10.1155/2012/925135

Ma, C. S., Deenick, E. K., Batten, M., & Tangye, S. G. (2012). The origins, function, and regulation of T follicular helper cells. *The Journal of Experimental Medicine*, 209(7), 1241–1253. https://doi.org/10.1084/JEM.20120994

Macgregor, A. J., Snieder, H., Rigby, A. S., Koskenvuo, M., Kaprio, J., Aho, K., & Silman, A. J. (2000). CHARACTERIZING THE QUANTITATIVE GENETIC CONTRIBUTION TO RHEUMATOIDARTHRITIS USING DATA FROM TWINS. In *ARTHRITIS & RHEUMATISM* (Vol. 43, Issue 1).

Maeda, Y., Kurakawa, T., Umemoto, E., Motooka, D., Ito, Y., Gotoh, K., Hirota, K., Matsushita, M., Furuta, Y., Narazaki, M., Sakaguchi, N., Kayama, H., Nakamura, S., Iida, T., Saeki, Y., Kumanogoh, A., Sakaguchi, S., & Takeda, K. (2016). Dysbiosis Contributes to Arthritis

Analyzing anti-rheumatic properties of novel medicinal flora (Dodonaea viscosa) through expression analysis

Development via Activation of Autoreactive T Cells in the Intestine. *Arthritis & Rheumatology* (*Hoboken, N.J.*), 68(11), 2646–2661. https://doi.org/10.1002/ART.39783

Mahire, S. P., & Patel, S. N. (2020). Extraction of phytochemicals and study of its antimicrobial and antioxidant activity of Helicteres isora L. *Clinical Phytoscience 2020 6:1*, *6*(1), 1–6. https://doi.org/10.1186/S40816-020-00156-1

Majithia, V., & Geraci, S. A. (2007). Rheumatoid Arthritis: Diagnosis and Management. In *American Journal of Medicine* (Vol. 120, Issue 11, pp. 936–939). Elsevier Inc. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.amjmed.2007.04.005

Malaviya, A. N., Kapoor, S. K., Singh, R. R., Kumar, A., & Pande, I. (1993). Prevalence of rheumatoidarthritis in the adult Indian population. *Rheumatology International*, *13*(4), 131–134. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF00301258/METRICS

Malik, M. N., Haq, I. ul, Fatima, H., Ahmad, M., Naz, I., Mirza, B., & Kanwal, N. (2022). Bioprospecting Dodonaea viscosa Jacq.; a traditional medicinal plant for antioxidant, cytotoxic, antidiabetic and antimicrobial potential. *Arabian Journal of Chemistry*, *15*(3), 103688. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.ARABJC.2022.103688

Mateen, S., Zafar, A., Moin, S., Khan, A. Q., & Zubair, S. (2016). Understanding the role of cytokines in the pathogenesis of rheumatoid arthritis. *Clinica Chimica Acta*, 455, 161–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.CCA.2016.02.010

Merlino, L. A., Curtis, J., Mikuls, T. R., Cerhan, J. R., Criswell, L. A., & Saag, K. G. (2004). Vitamin D Intake Is Inversely Associated With Rheumatoid Arthritis: Results From the Iowa Women's Health Study. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 50(1), 72–77. https://doi.org/10.1002/ART.11434

Meyer, O., Nicaise-Roland, P., dos Santos, M., Labarre, C., Dougados, M., Goupille, P., Cantagrel, A., Sibilia, J., & Combe, B. (2006). Serial determination of cyclic citrullinated peptide autoantibodiespredicted five-year radiological outcomes in a prospective cohort of patients with early rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis Research and Therapy*, 8(2), 1–8. https://doi.org/10.1186/AR1896/TABLES/4

Minichiello, E., Semerano, L., & Boissier, M. C. (2016). Time trends in the incidence, prevalence, andseverity of rheumatoid arthritis: A systematic literature review. *Joint Bone Spine*, *83*(6), 625–630.https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JBSPIN.2016.07.007

Muhammad Shoaib Akhtar1, M. A. K. G. H. A. (n.d.). *HYPOGLYCEMIC ACTIVITY OF DODONAEAVISCOSA LEAVESIN NORMAL AND ALLOXAN-INDUCED DIABETIC RABBITS*.

Murphy, G., Caplice, N., & Molloy, M. (2008). Fractalkine in rheumatoid arthritis: a review to date. *Rheumatology* (*Oxford, England*), 47(10), 1446–1451. https://doi.org/10.1093/RHEUMATOLOGY/KEN197

Naira Nayeem1*, N. A. S. Mohd. I. B. A. (n.d.). HPTLC ANALYSIS AND IN VITRO BIOLOGICALACTIVITY OF DODONAEA VISCOSA. *Pharmacophore*.

Nakahara, H., Song, J., Sugimoto, M., Hagihara, K., Kishimoto, T., Yoshizaki, K., & Nishimoto, N. (2003). Anti-interleukin-6 receptor antibody therapy reduces vascular endothelial growth factor production in rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 48(6), 1521–1529. https://doi.org/10.1002/ART.11143

Analyzing anti-rheumatic properties of novel medicinal flora (Dodonaea viscosa) through expression analysis

Narazaki, M., Tanaka, T., & Kishimoto, T. (2017). The role and therapeutic targeting of IL-6 in rheumatoid arthritis. *Expert Review of Clinical Immunology*, *13*(6), 535–551. https://doi.org/10.1080/1744666X.2017.1295850

Nayeem, N., Mohammed Basheeruddin Asdaq, S., Alamri, A. S., Alsanie, W. F., Alhomrani, M., Mohzari, Y., Alrashed, A. A., Alotaibi, N., aalhathal, A. S., Alharbi, M. A., Aldhawyan, N. N., Asad, M., Mohammad Ali Abdalla, F., & Najmi, S. Y. (2021). Wound healing potential of Dodonaea viscosa extract formulation in experimental animals. *Journal of King Saud University-Science*, *33*(5), 101476. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JKSUS.2021.101476

Ohshima, S., Saeki, Y., Mima, T., Sasai, M., Nishioka, K., Nomura, S., Kopf, M., Katada, Y., Tanaka, T., Suemura, M., & Kishimoto, T. (1998). Interleukin 6 plays a key role in the development of antigen-induced arthritis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, *95*(14), 8222–8226. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.95.14.8222

Padyukov, L., Suva, C., Stolt, P., Alfredsson, L., & Klareskog, L. (2004). A gene-environment interaction between smoking and shared epitope genes in HLA-DR provides a high risk of seropositive rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, *50*(10), 3085–3092. https://doi.org/10.1002/ART.20553

Pandey, P., & Tiwari, S. (2018). Therapeutic potential of Indian plants for the treatment of rheumatoidarthritis. *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*.

Pandey, P., Tiwari, S., & Priyanka Pandey, C. (2018). Therapeutic potential of Indian plants for the treatment of rheumatoid arthritis. ~ 37 ~ *Journal of Pharmacognosy and Phytochemistry*, 7(3).

Pedersen, M., Jacobsen, S., Klarlund, M., Pedersen, B. V., Wiik, A., Wohlfahrt, J., & Pedersen, M. (2006). Environmental risk factors differ between rheumatoid arthritis with and without autoantibodies against cyclic citrullinated peptides. *Arthritis Research and Therapy*, 8(4), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1186/AR2022/TABLES/6

P.Muthukumran1* V.Hazeena Begumand, P. K. (n.d.). Anti-Diabetic activity ofDodonaea viscosa(L)Leaf Extracts. *International Journal of PharmTech Research*.

Pope, R. M., & Huang, Q. Q. (2009). The role of toll-like receptors in rheumatoid arthritis. *Current Rheumatology Reports*, *11*(5), 357–364. https://doi.org/10.1007/S11926-009-0051-Z

Qamar, T., & Mukherjee, S. (2021). Genetic approaches for the diagnosis and treatment of rheumatoid arthritis through personalized medicine. *Gene Reports*, 23, 101173. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.GENREP.2021.101173

Radner, H., Neogi, T., Smolen, J. S., & Aletaha, D. (2014). Performance of the 2010 ACR/EULAR classification criteria for rheumatoid arthritis: a systematic literature review. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 73(1), 114–123. https://doi.org/10.1136/ANNRHEUMDIS-2013-203284

Rahimizadeh, P., Rezaieyazdi, Z., Behzadi, F., Hajizade, A., & Lim, S. I. (2021). Nanotechnology as apromising platform for rheumatoid arthritis management: Diagnosis, treatment, and treatment monitoring. *International Journal of Pharmaceutics*, 609.

https://doi.org/10.1016/J.IJPHARM.2021.121137

Rashid, S., Ahmad, M., Zafar, M., Sultana, S., Ayub, M., Khan, M. A., & Yaseen, G. (2015). Ethnobotanical survey of medicinally important shrubs and trees of Himalayan region of Azad Jammu and Kashmir, Pakistan. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, *166*, 340–351. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jep.2015.03.042

Analyzing anti-rheumatic properties of novel medicinal flora (Dodonaea viscosa) through expression analysis
Reed, E., Hedström, A. K., Hansson, M., Mathsson-Alm, L., Brynedal, B., Saevarsdottir, S., Cornillet, M., Jakobsson, P. J., Holmdahl, R., Skriner, K., Serre, G., Alfredsson, L., Rönnelid, J., & Lundberg, K. (2020). Presence of autoantibodies in "seronegative" rheumatoid arthritis associateswith classical risk factors and high disease activity. *Arthritis Research and Therapy*, 22(1), 1–11.https://doi.org/10.1186/S13075-020 02191-2/TABLES/4

Rein, P., & Mueller, R. B. (2017). Treatment with Biologicals in Rheumatoid Arthritis: An Overview.*Rheumatology and Therapy*, 4(2), 247–261. https://doi.org/10.1007/S40744-017-0073-3

Rieck, M., Arechiga, A., Onengut-Gumuscu, S., Greenbaum, C., Concannon, P., & Buckner, J. H. (2007). Genetic Variation in PTPN22 Corresponds to Altered Function of T and B Lymphocytes. *The Journal of Immunology*, *179*(7), 4704–4710. https://doi.org/10.4049/JIMMUNOL.179.7.4704

Rojas, A., Cruz, S., Ponce-Monter, H., & Mata, R. (1996). Smooth muscle relaxing compounds from Dodonaea viscosa. *Planta Medica*, 62(2), 154–159. https://doi.org/10.1055/S-2006-957840

Rojas, A., Hernandez, L., Pereda-Miranda, R., & Mata, R. (1992). Screening for antimicrobial activity of crude drug extracts and pure natural products from Mexican medicinal plants. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, *35*(3), 275–283. https://doi.org/10.1016/0378-8741(92)90025-M

Salinas-Sánchez, D. O., Herrera-Ruiz, M., Pérez, S., Jiménez-Ferrer, E., & Zamilpa, A. (2012). Anti- inflammatory activity of hautriwaic acid isolated from Dodonaea viscosa leaves. *Molecules* (*Basel, Switzerland*), *17*(4), 4292–4299. https://doi.org/10.3390/MOLECULES17044292

Sama Venkatesh*, Y. S. R. R. M. R. M. M. S. N. M. and B. S. (n.d.). Pharmacognostical studies on Dodonaea viscosa leaves. *African Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology Vol*.2(4).

Sampaio, B. L., Edrada-Ebel, R., & Da Costa, F. B. (2016). Effect of the environment on the secondarymetabolic profile of Tithonia diversifolia: a model for environmental metabolomics of plants. *Scientific Reports*, *6*. https://doi.org/10.1038/SREP29265

Sanchez-Pernaute, O., Filkova, M., Gabucio, A., Klein, M., MacIejewska-Rodrigues, H., Ospelt, C., Brentano, F., Michel, B. A., Gay, R. E., Herrero-Beaumont, G., Gay, S., Neidhart, M., & Juengel,

A. (2013). Citrullination enhances the pro-inflammatory response to fibrin in rheumatoid arthritis synovial fibroblasts. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 72(8), 1400–1406. https://doi.org/10.1136/ANNRHEUMDIS-2012-201906

Saranya, K., & Divyabharathi, U. (n.d.). *PHYTOCHEMICAL AND HISTOCHEMICAL SCREENING OF Dodonaea viscosa LEAVES*. Retrieved May 24, 2023, from https://pramanaresearch.org/.

Sasai, M., Saeki, Y., Ohshima, S., Nishioka, K., Mima, T., Tanaka, T., Katada, Y., Yoshizaki, K., Suemura, M., & Kishimoto, T. (1999). DELAYED ONSET AND REDUCED SEVERITY OF COLLAGEN-INDUCED ARTHRITIS IN INTERLEUKIN-6-DEFICIENT MICE. *ARTHRITIS* & *RHEUMATISM*, *42*(8), 1635–1643. https://doi.org/10.1002/1529-0131

Schellekens, G. A., Visser, H., De Jong, B. A. W., Van Den Hoogen, F. H. J., Hazes, J. M. W., Breedveld, F. C., & Van Venrooij, W. J. (2000). THE DIAGNOSTIC PROPERTIES OF RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS ANTIBODIES RECOGNIZING A CYCLIC CITRULLINATED PEPTIDE. *ARTHRITIS & RHEUMATISM*, *43*(1), 155–163. https://doi.org/10.1002/1529-0131

Analyzing anti-rheumatic properties of novel medicinal flora (Dodonaea viscosa) through expression analysis

Scherer, H. U., Häupl, T., & Burmester, G. R. (2020). The etiology of rheumatoid arthritis. *Journal of Autoimmunity*, *110*. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAUT.2019.102400

Schröder, A. E., Greiner, A., Seyfert, C., & Berek, C. (1996). Differentiation of B cells in the nonlymphoid tissue of the synovial membrane of patients with rheumatoid arthritis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, 93(1), 221–225. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.93.1.221

Shah, S. A., Iqbal, W., Sheraz, M., Javed, B., Zehra, S. S., Abbas, H. A. B. E., Hussain, W., Sarwer, A.,& Mashwani, Z.-U.-R. (2021). Ethnopharmacological Study of Medicinal Plants in Bajwat Wildlife Sanctuary, District Sialkot, Punjab Province of Pakistan. *Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine : ECAM*, 2021, 5547987. https://doi.org/10.1155/2021/5547987

Sharmila, S., Kalaichelvi, K., Dhivya, S. M., Premamalini, P., Abirami, P., & Jayanthi, G. (2017). Pharmacognostic Assessment of the Endemic and Vulnerable Medicinal Climber-Cayratia pedata (Lam.) Gagnep. var. glabra Gamble and Its Antibacterial Activity. *Pharmacognosy Research*, *9*(Suppl 1), S27–S33. https://doi.org/10.4103/pr.pr_25_17

Shtein, I., Meir, S., Riov, J., & Philosoph-Hadas, S. (2011a). Interconnection of seasonal temperature, vascular traits, leaf anatomy and hydraulic performance in cut Dodonaea "Dana" branches. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*,61(2–3),184–192.https://doi.org/10.1016/J.POSTHARVBIO.2011.03.004

Shtein, I., Meir, S., Riov, J., & Philosoph-Hadas, S. (2011b). Interconnection of seasonal temperature, vascular traits, leaf anatomy and hydraulic performance in cut Dodonaea 'Dana' branches. *Postharvest Biology and Technology*, *61*(2–3), 184–192. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.POSTHARVBIO.2011.03.004

Singh, S., Singh, T. G., Mahajan, K., & Dhiman, S. (2020a). Medicinal plants used against various inflammatory biomarkers for the management of rheumatoid arthritis. *Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, 72(10), 1306–1327. https://doi.org/10.1111/JPHP.13326

Singh, S., Singh, T. G., Mahajan, K., & Dhiman, S. (2020b). Medicinal plants used against various inflammatory biomarkers for the management of rheumatoid arthritis. *The Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmacology*, 72(10), 1306–1327. https://doi.org/10.1111/JPHP.13326

Slimani, S., & Ladjouze-Rezig, A. (2014). Prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis in an urban population of Algeria: a prospective study. *Rheumatology*, *53*(3), 571–573. https://doi.org/10.1093/RHEUMATOLOGY/KET446

Smolen, J. S., Aletaha, D., & McInnes, I. B. (2016). Rheumatoid arthritis. *Lancet (London, England)*, 388(10055), 2023–2038. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(16)30173-8

Smolen, J. S., Landewé, R., Breedveld, F. C., Dougados, M., Emery, P., Gaujoux-Viala, C., Gorter, S., Knevel, R., Nam, J., Schoels, M., Aletaha, D., Buch, M., Gossec, L., Huizinga, T., Bijlsma, J. W.

J. W., Burmester, G., Combe, B., Cutolo, M., Gabay, C., ... Van Der Heijde, D. (2010). EULAR recommendations for the management of rheumatoid arthritis with synthetic and biological disease-modifying antirheumatic drugs. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 69(6), 964–975. https://doi.org/10.1136/ARD.2009.126532

Smolen, J. S., & Steiner, G. (2003). Therapeutic strategies for rheumatoid arthritis. *Nature Reviews Drug Discovery 2003 2:6*, 2(6), 473–488. https://doi.org/10.1038/nrd1109

Analyzing anti-rheumatic properties of novel medicinal flora (Dodonaea viscosa) through expression analysis

Sokka, T., Toloza, S., Cutolo, M., Kautiainen, H., Makinen, H., Gogus, F., Skakic, V., Badsha, H., Peets,

T., Baranauskaite, A., Géher, P., Újfalussy, I., Skopouli, F. N., Mavrommati, M., Alten, R., Pohl, C., Sibilia, J., Stancati, A., Salaffi, F., ... Pincus, T. (2009). Women, men, and rheumatoid arthritis: Analyses of disease activity, disease characteristics, and treatments in the QUEST-RA Study. *Arthritis Research and Therapy*, *11*(1), 1–12. https://doi.org/10.1186/AR2591/TABLES/4

Somers, K., Geusens, P., Elewaut, D., De Keyser, F., Rummens, J. L., Coenen, M., Blom, M., Stinissen, P., & Somers, V. (2011). Novel autoantibody markers for early and seronegative rheumatoid arthritis. *Journal of Autoimmunity*, *36*(1), 33–46. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.JAUT.2010.10.003

Szodoray, P., Szabó, Z., Kapitány, A., Gyetvai, Á., Lakos, G., Szántó, S., Szücs, G., & Szekanecz, Z. (2010). Anti-citrullinated protein/peptide autoantibodies in association with genetic and environmental factors as indicators of disease outcome in rheumatoid arthritis. *Autoimmunity Reviews*, *9*(3), 140–143. https://doi.org/10.1016/J.AUTREV.2009.04.006

T Riise 1, B. K. J. J. T. G. (n.d.). Incidence and prevalence of rheumatoid arthritis in the county of Troms, northern Norway. *The Journal of Rheumatology*, 27(6), 1386–1389.

Tanaka, T., Narazaki, M., & Kishimoto, T. (2012). Therapeutic targeting of the interleukin-6 receptor. *Annual Review of Pharmacology and Toxicology*, *52*, 199–219. https://doi.org/10.1146/ANNUREV-PHARMTOX-010611-134715

Tanaka, T., Narazaki, M., & Kishimoto, T. (2014). IL-6 in inflammation, immunity, and disease.ColdSpringHarborPerspectivesinBiology,6(10).https://doi.org/10.1101/CSHPERSPECT.A016295

Taneja, V. (2014). Arthritis susceptibility and the gut microbiome. *FEBS Letters*, 588(22), 4244–4249.https://doi.org/10.1016/J.FEBSLET.2014.05.034

TAUHEEDA RIAZ1, M. A. A. A.-U.-R. T. S. M. A. and K. M. K. (n.d.). Phytochemical screening, freeradical scavenging, antioxidant activity and phenolic content of Dodonaea viscosa Jacq. . *Journalof the Serbian Chemical Society*.

Tong, Z. W., Gul, H., Awais, M., Saddick, S., Khan, F. S., Gulfraz, M., Afzal, U., Nazir, K., Malik, M.Y., Khan, S. U., & Khan, M. I. (2021). Determination of in vivo biological activities of Dodonaea viscosa flowers against CCL4 toxicity in albino mice with bioactive compound detection. *Scientific Reports 2021 11:1, 11*(1), 1–15. https://doi.org/10.1038/s41598-021-92638-6

Tongshuwar, G. T., Ojetunde, A. O., Oyegoke, A., & OYEGOKE, T. (2020). ETHNO-BOTANICAL SURVEY OF PLANTS USED IN A RHEUMATOID ARTHRITIS TREATMENT: A CASE

STUDY OF JOS IN NIGERIA. *Medical Science of Ukraine (MSU)*, *16*(4), 35–45. https://doi.org/10.32345/2664-4738.4.2020.6

Trouw, L. A., Huizinga, T. W. J., & Toes, R. E. M. (2013). Autoimmunity in rheumatoid arthritis: different antigens—common principles. *Annals of the Rheumatic Diseases*, 72(suppl 2), ii132–ii136. https://doi.org/10.1136/ANNRHEUMDIS-2012-202349

Van Der Woude, D., Houwing-Duistermaat, J. J., Toes, R. E. M., Huizinga, T. W. J., Thomson, W., Worthington, J., Van Der Helm-Van Mil, A. H. M., & De Vries, R. R. P. (2009). Quantitative heritability of anti-citrullinated protein antibody-positive and anti-citrullinated protein antibody-

Analyzing anti-rheumatic properties of novel medicinal flora (Dodonaea viscosa) through expression analysis

negative rheumatoid arthritis. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, 60(4), 916–923. https://doi.org/10.1002/ART.24385

Wahren-Herlenius, M., & Dörner, T. (2013). Immunopathogenic mechanisms of systemic autoimmune disease. *The Lancet*, *382*(9894), 819–831. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0140-6736(13)60954-X

Williams, R. O., Feldmann, M., & Maini, R. N. (1992). Anti-tumor necrosis factor ameliorates joint disease in murine collagen-induced arthritis. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences of the United States of America*, 89(20), 9784–9788. https://doi.org/10.1073/PNAS.89.20.9784

Yap, H. Y., Tee, S. Z. Y., Wong, M. M. T., Chow, S. K., Peh, S. C., & Teow, S. Y. (2018). Pathogenic Role of Immune Cells in Rheumatoid Arthritis: Implications in Clinical Treatment and Biomarker Development. *Cells*, *7*(10). https://doi.org/10.3390/CELLS7100161

Zakari, A., Kubmarawa, D., Osemeohon, S., Dzarma, S., & Baba, E. B. (2018). Curr Trends BiomedicalEng & Biosci In vivo Acute Toxicity (LD 50) Studies and Phytochemical Screening of Stem Bark Extracts of Detarium microcarpum Guill and per (Caesalpinioideae) and Myosortisscorpioides L.(boraginaceae). *Review Article*, 14. https://doi.org/10.19080/CTBEB.2018.14.55

turnitin

Digital Receipt

Hatti Attya rot

This receipt acknowledges that Turnitin received your paper. Below you will find the receipt information regarding your submission.

The first page of your submissions is displayed below.

Submission author:	AA
Assignment title:	Paper-8
Submission title:	Analyzing Anti-Rheumatic Properties of Novel Medicinal Flor
File name:	Palagarism_MS-Thesis.docx
File size:	3.5M
Page count	55
Word count:	14,306
Character count:	78,888
Submission date:	28-Aug-2023 02:51AM (UTC-0400)
Submission ID:	2152607519
	Analyzing Anti-Rhenmatic Properties of Novel Modicinal Flora (Dodonace release) through Expression Analysis
	Hada Manawar
	Supervised by
	Post 10, Adju man
	Ann-U-Rahman Schuel of Applied Bosscores (ASAR)
	National University of Kontraces & Technology (NUSY), indemodual, Pykimut,
	20
	Address of the state of the sta
Copyright 2023 Turnitin. All rights reserved.	

Analyzing anti-rheumatic properties of novel medicinal flora (Dodonaea viscosa) through expression analysis



Analyzing anti-rheumatic properties of novel medicinal flora (Dodonaea viscosa) through expression analysis